VPRIVATE 

   Constantine VII calls Vovnyzky Rapid Varuforos in Rus’ and Vulniprakh in Slav. It creates a large lake, the historian explains. Here the Rus’ again navigate their boats through small shore channels, as they do with the first and second rapids, and reach the sixth rapid. In Kniga bol’shomu chertezhu and in “Ancient Russian Hydrography” it is named Volneg, Volny and Volninsky. The 18th century academic Lerberg calls it Vovnyzky or Vnuk‑Porih (Grandson‑Rapid), harking to Did‑Poroh (Grandpa‑Rapid) used by today’s villagers. It is the largest of the rapids after Nenasytetsky and lies 19.9 miles (32 km) below Nenasytets and 2.3 miles (3.7 km) below Velyky Dubovy Island. It is 117 yards (106 m) wide, on the right side 630 yards (576 m) long, on the left – 548 yards (500 m) long, the water falls 8 feet (2.43 m) in four cascades: Blyzniuky (Twins), Ploska (Flat), Hroza (Storm) and Pomyjnytsia (Sloptub). It has a canal lined with stone with smooth walls 467 yards (426 m) long; the river channel depth above the rapid is 8 feet (2.44m) and below the rapid – 7 feet (2.13 m). In bad weather it often “talks” with Did‑Rapid: Did Rapid will be roaring, howling, droning, shaking the earth; and then suddenly “Grandpa” becomes silent and seems to groan deeply. Then “Grandson” begins to roar, howl, drone, and then he too suddenly cuts out and groans hollowly. And then Grandpa Rapid takes over, followed by Grandson again. “That’s them calling to each other at the onset of [bad] weather.”108
   On the left, before Vovnyzky Rapid, stands a small rock isle called Pereima; beside the Vovnyzky canal lies the islet of Poltavka; between Poltavka and the left bank runs a channel dubbed Rozchystka (Clearway). One of the rocks on Poltavka contains a depression for polishing stone weapons. On the right bank of the Dnipro lie the ravines Lehky and Haibey and opposite the rapid itself the village of Vovnihy descends to the river’s edge. The outcrop where Vovnihy is located was granted to Count P.Rumiantsev in 1784 “as part of his rank” and from him it later passed to Myloradovych.

   Below Vovnyzky Rapid lies Balchansky Gully, about which the old men recall that a Zaporozhian Cossack named Balchan once lived there. The Cossack was famous for his very long moustache, which he wound around his ears three times; his pipe never left his teeth; he smoked pozapravsky and also klav za hubu “venheria”, that is he burnt tobacco from the tube of his smoking‑pipe. He rode a dragon of a horse and was certainly a Zaporozhian, for he wore very wide pants and a wide leather belt. In his pocket he carried a pouch of tobacco and a spoon, and inside his bootleg a well‑sharpened knife. People often found Cossack artifacts in Balchansky Gully – rusty pistols, spears, rifles, cauldrons and lead bullets.109
   Below Vovnyzky Rapid come a string of rocks: Kobylka (Small Mare), Kurochka (Chicken), Tsapryha, Krut’ko, Tyri, Gadzhola, Buts’, Poliak.

   Dehtiareva Ravine comes down to the Dnipro on the left bank, Lomakivska Ravine ‑ on the right.

   Budylsky Rapid is given by Constantine VII as Leantis in Rus’ and Beruchy in Slav, which means the boiling of water; in “Ancient Russian Hydrography” and Kniga bol’shomu chertezhu it is listed as Budylo; the “Dnipro Atlas” has it as Dubylsky and the “Hydrographic Map of the Dnepr Rapids” has it as Budylsky or Budynsky. Lying 3.3 miles (5.3 km) below Vovnyzky Rapid, it is 436 yards (398 m) long on the right side and 238 yards (217 m) on the left, the water falls 3.43 feet (1.04 m); it falls in two cascades, 700 feet (213 m) apart, called Tyryna and Sozonova, named after river pilots who had once run their rafts aground here; it has a small stone‑lined canal on either side; the navigation channel depth above the rapid is 7 feet (2.13 m), below the rapid – 9 feet (2.74 m). There is a story how the rapid received its name: “You’ve traversed the Grandpa and the Grandson, river pilot, and have gone to sleep; wake up now, or Budylo (Waker) will wake you.”

   Budylska Ravine lies 1.28 miles (2.13 km) below Budylsky Rapid; it comes down to the Dnipro on the right bank – here there once lived a Zaporozhian Cossack named Don. They say he was very wealthy, very strong, and above all a great wizard. They say he would unfurl a piece of felt upon the water, summon some guests, sit down on that felt with them and set off down the Dnipro. The felt mat sailed along, while the Cossacks drank, danced and passed around the vodka. After Don’s death all his wealth was inherited by his niece. He had quite a few Zaporozhian artifacts – cauldrons of red copper, various weapons, saddles and harnesses.110
   On the right side Trutova Ravine comes down to the Dnipro below Budylska Ravine. It was once inhabited by another Zaporozhian Cossack named Trut. He was a true winter Cossack and took no part in warfare, serving the Zaporozhian army instead by occupying himself with farming. Trutova Ravine was once covered in trees. It is said there was a spring there, which attracted thunderstorms and rain clouds, explaining why it contained so many oaks split by lightning.111
   Next along the right bank lies Redyna Ravine, followed by Kantsiurova Ravine. The Cossack‑settler Kantsiura once lived here and the settlement Kantsiurove was named after him.

   In the river itself there are rocks: Kolesnyky, Chervony and Rybalsky, otherwise known as Strelytsia, the name under which it is listed in “Atlas of Part of the Dnepr River in 1863”. Rybalsky Island is closer to shore, and Chervony lies immediately after it. There is sand on Rybalsky and black poplar once grew here, while Chervony is solid red rock. In 1877 Rybalsky was completely inundated, while Chervony is flooded almost every spring and then it is called a zabora. The river pilots fear Chervony, for the current pushes the rafts straight onto it. After 1845 they found Zaporozhian sabres and lots of human skulls in the sand on Rybalsky Island. Until 1845 it had been a sizeable islet and fairly high.112 

   Below Rybalsky and Chervony islands stand two rocks called Sluzhby (Services); no one knows quite how they came to be named thus.

   On the right side of the Dnipro stands the village of Fedorivka‑Yazykova, founded in 1780. In that year the land below Budylsky Rapid was granted to Fedir Yazykov as part of his rank. The village founded here was first called Lord Yazykov’s Fedorivka, then later became Fedorivka‑Yazykova.

   While the Zaporozhian Sich existed winter Cossacks lived here, together with settlers, who were immortalized in the names of various ravines, gullies, creeks and barrows.

   For example, Cossack Kvita once lived near the settlement of Fedorivka‑Yazykova, and Kvitiana Ravine now bears his name. He was very wealthy and had three sons who lived with him while the Sich existed; after the Sich was abolished the sons left the father behind and made off for the Kuban region. Near the mouth of Kvitiana Ravine, right on the riverbank, stood an oak which needed four men to embrace it. Such oaks grew here in other places too. Lots of Zaporozhians lived here, living out their lives in places dear to them.

   Here is what one 98‑year‑old fellow named Trokhym Kovbasa recounted about one such Zaporozhian Cossack: “There lived a wealthy Zaporozhian Cossack here who had a son. That son of his had a wife too. Only the son did not listen to his father very much and often stole his money. Now when the father grew old, he gathered up all his money, placed it into a clay bowl and went off into the orchard with it, but his daughter-in-law quietly followed him. The father dug a hole in the orchard and buried the bowl of money. While burying it, he swore the following incantation three times: ‘Whichever hand buries this money must uncover it also.’ Well, who knows how long the old fellow lived after that, but finally he died. His daughter‑in‑law waited for darkness to fall, grabbed the corpse around the middle and dragged it off into the orchard; there she lay him near the hole where the money was buried and began to scrape away the earth with his hand; as she did this, she said three times: ‘With the hand that I buried this money I now uncover it.’ She took all the money, dragged the corpse back into the house, and the next day they called all the people together and began to mourn her father‑in‑law.”113
   While digging wells and cellars in Fedorivka‑Yazykova the villagers often came across burial pits. In one spot they claim to have found human bones, and among them sixteen bronze arrows; in another they uncovered a complete male skeleton near whose head stood a “gourd” filled with vodka, and on the right side lay a pipe, tobacco, a kresalo and flint. They drank the vodka, while the rest of the find became lost somewhere.114 

   “In the Yazykiv steppe they once dug a wolf trap and found a human skeleton with eighteen copper arrows among the bones. People said at the time that the Turks fought with such arrows.”115
   During the times of the Zaporozhian Cossacks there was a well‑known ferry crossing called Tavolzhansky at the spot where Fedorivka‑Yazykova now stands, which later began to be called Yazykivsky. This ferry crossing was described in 1594 by Erich Lassota, envoy of German emperor Rudolf II, who travelled to the Cossacks down the Dnipro with a political commission from his monarch. “We passed through the tenth rapid called Budylo,” he wrote, “and beyond it stopped on the left Tatar bank; there we lunched. There is now an ordinary Tatar crossing here, which goes beyond Tavolzhansky Island, since the Dnipro flows in a single stream. We found here a great number of small Tatar boats bound with brushwood and stretched all around with fresh animal skins.”116
   The well‑known French engineer Beauplan wrote about this Tavolzhansky crossing in the 17th century: “Of all the thirteen rapids,” he stated, “only between the tenth Tavolzhansky can the Tatars cross the river, where the banks are more accessible.”117 

   “It is worth adding to the information of Lassota and Beauplan,” says Yakiv P. Novytskyxliv, “that the Dnipro bank from Budylo Rapid for 1.6 miles (2. 7 km), up to the present Yazykova, is for the most part high, craggy and steep, is often dissected by ravines, and the shoreline is not everywhere accessible; the left bank, on the other hand, is for the most part a sandy plain. Thus it can be assumed that the old Tatar and Cossack crossing was below Sluzhby Rocks, where later Yazykivsky Crossing was located. The crossing was made on horseback, one expects, starting from the right bank – first across the stream to Tavolzhany Island, then between its cliffs Holubyna and Shchukuvata, and across the Dnipro proper. Even though the current is strong here, the right bank of Tavolzhany Island and the left bank upstream from Perun Island are more accessible, the river being no more than 1400 feet (426 m) wide.”118
   Ancient roads led up to Tavolzhansky or Yazykivsky Crossing. On the right bank stretched the wide chumakxlv road, from Polovytsia, that is from the present Katerynoslav, across the steppe of Lord Zakharyn, turning towards Yazykova near Shmaliana Barrow, after passing Riaba Grave where the Pidhorodiany post‑office stands. After a chumak was transported from the right bank to the left bank, he would turn whichever way he needed; either toward Samar119 or via Orikhiv to Perekop, or to to Marnopil120, Crimea, Kerch or the Don River.

   On the left side a wide chumak road indeed came down to the Dnipro from Samar via Svystunivsky Road and here diverged to Oleksandrivsk, Perekop, Yazykivsky Crossing, and then along the postal road which ran toward Polovytsia, that is Katerynoslav.121
   Tavolzhansky or Yazykivsky Crossing is as old as the hills. It lay below Sluzhby Rocks and above Tavolzhansky Island. Here the Zaporozhian Cossacks and the haydamakas swam across the river on horseback to Tavolzhansky Island. They were a daredevil people. Later the landlords organized two ferries here for the chumaks. Lord Almighty, the number of chumaks who crossed here! Twenty of their carts would roll onto each ferry. For the crossing they were charged a hryvnia, that is three copecks for each cart and pair of oxen, and they could graze the oxen for free. And the chumak travelled south either empty‑handed or carted dried pears, and returned with fish and salt.122
   Below the village of Fedorivka‑Yazykova, on the right bank of the Dnipro the village of Avhustynivka‑Smolshcha or Vustynivka stretches for more than three miles (5 km). It was founded by the same Fedir Yazykov who founded Fedorivka‑Yazykova, its name in honour of his wife Avhusta. After Yazykov’s death his wife purchased 80 families of serfs from Count Rozumovsky in the settlement of Smolshcha, Prylutsky District, Poltava Guberniya and transferred them to her Avhustynivka, which gave rise to the name Avhustynivka‑Smolshcha. And because the villagers Ukrainianized Avhusta (Augusta ‑ transl.) into Vustia, the alternative name of Vustynivka appeared.

   Sometime in 1796 the widow Avhustyna Yazykova married Count Ia.Sivers; and almost four years later the Countess Sivers sold her land to F.Ushakov.

   General Slipushkin took over title to the land from Ushakov and from him it passed onto the hands of his son‑in‑law, Count Koskul, an Estonian by birth, but a Russian subject.123
   In the 1870s one summer night a meteorite fell near Avhustynivka‑Smolshcha and plowed into the clay for more than 14 feet (4 m). “The iron meteorite was not that large,” recounted ninety‑year‑old Andriy Yurchenko. “It probably weighed some 25 to 30 poods (900‑1080 lbs or 410‑490 kg), but the iron was so hard that you couldn’t file it or chip a piece off with a sledgehammer. The villagers kept coming up to it and striking it with hammers. After it was pulled from the clay, they quickly hauled it off to the city.”124
   In the middle of the Dnipro opposite Avhustynivka‑Smolshcha lies the large and consequential Tavolzhany Island. On various maps of the Dnipro and in various memoirs and studies it is referred to variously as Tavolzhany, Vil’shany, Tavolshansky, Tavadzhansky, Tavol’zhanskoi, Tavolzhanka. The locals call it Tivil’zhan. But since meadow‑sweet (tavolha in Ukrainian) is the predominant vegetation on this island, it would be more correct to call it Tavolzhany.

   The island’s size is also variously given. Beauplan gives the smallest dimensions: 0.88 miles (1.42 km) long. But one need only wander across the island, without even measuring it, to immediately see that Beauplan had never measured it or even walked upon it. Others differently give the length as 1.26 to 2.6 miles (2.1‑4.3 km), its width ranging from 225 yards to 0.66 miles (0.2‑1.07 km). If we take the average measurements, we can safely say that Tavolzhany Island is over two miles (3.2 km) long and between 225 yards (200 m) and 0.6 miles (1 km) wide in various places.

   The area of Tavolzhany Island is also variously given as being between 600 acres (240 ha) and 870 acres (350 ha). Its height above the mean summer water level in the northern half of the island is 200 feet (61 m), and in the southern half, below Dovha (Long) Ravine is approximately 120 feet (36.5 m). The island’s soil is sandy black earth.

   Going by the reminiscences of the ancient old men and the remaining stumps, it is obvious that the island once had a great forest teeming with wildlife: it contained oak, maple, elm, wild pear, hawthorn, while the slopes were densely covered with bushes of meadow‑sweet. The same old men recounted that the Zaporozhian Cossacks used the meadow‑sweet growing on the island as a medicinal herb; they squeezed the juice from its young shoots, using this to cure their thoroughbreds from urine retention, which they often suffered from.

   Herbaceous plants now growing on the island include daisies, crocuses, fumitory, mercury, violets, irises, lady’s bedstraw, tulips, pasque‑flower, periwinkle and especially large quantities of joint fir (Ephedra vulgaris). All these appear in late February, sometimes later – in March.

   As much as Tavolzhany Island can be attractive in the spring, it can be equally unattractive in the dry scorching heat of summer. All the herbaceous vegetation on it dries and it is as if nothing ever grew on it.

    The island’s “head” or northern section is considerably strewn with bare boulders; the long eastern bank at its highest point contains a string of enormous cliffs suspended majestically out over the Dnipro; the northern reaches of the long western bank are also rocky, with several tall cliffs; the southern section, dubbed the “tail end”, has loose white sand which stretches far out into the Dnipro in a spit.

   The most famous of the island’s cliffs are Holubyna (Dove’s), which is 72 feet (22 m) high: many wild pigeons once roosted here; Shchukuvata (Pikey), 100 feet (30.5 m) high, beside which there is always an abundance of pike; Vovcha (Wolf’s) Cliff, beside which wolves bred; Stara Zabora, the tallest of the cliffs, is 120 feet (36.6 m) high. All these cliffs run north to south, jut out over the Dnipro and stand opposite Perun Island. From Shchukuvata Cliff to Stara Zabora there are twenty holes stretching in four rows. They say this was once a settlement of Zaporozhian Cossacks. The holes are evidence of dugouts having been here, surrounded by an embankment, the remains of which were visible up until 1882.

   The eastern side of the island has a so‑called Lypyn (Linden) Coast: “During the landlord’s reign there was a stand of luxurious lindens there, in which nightingales warbled and orioles whistled.” Dovha Ravine cuts across the island below Holubyna Cliff. The ravine once contained two lakes, one of which still existed back in 1882.

   There are two grave mounds on the northern part of the island. One is seventy paces in circumference and twenty‑four in diameter; the other smaller one is covered in granite.

   In the southern so‑called “tail‑end" of the island there are signs of enormous kilns in the drifting white sands; pieces of amphorae and other clayware with various ornaments were found here, together with plenty of flint splinters, whole and broken flint knives, bronze arrows, flints from muskets and pistols, hand‑made Zaporozhian lead bullets. They also found three slate dies for pouring various bronze items.125 In the distant past there must have been a foundry workshop here.

   Artifacts were also found in the northern half of the island, but nowhere near as many as in the southern part. After prolonged strong winds blowing against the island’s shore, the Dnipro waters uncovered “an enormous pot made of red clay, with two handles and a round bottom, unlike those made in Ukraine.126 It was buried deep in the sand and four men barely managed to unearth it using oars. They thought it was full of money, but when it was pulled from the water and they took a closer look at it, they found it contained only sand. So they smashed it up with their oars and tossed the pieces into the river.”

   At the very “head” of the island people found some Russian coins, but they were only from the late 18th and early 19th centuries.

   In reminiscing about Tavolzhany Island the old narrators say that a large forest once covered the island and everywhere around it: in the middle of the island grew hawthorn bushes and pears, upon its “head”, where the rocks are now, there was still a forest back in 1845, together with some brush oak. And there was a terrible amount of Russian broom growing everywhere. The grass grew so luxuriantly here that each year they mowed six to seven large ricks of hay on the island... There were countless numbers of fish too. The place teemed with animals, serpents, birdlife. Horn‑owls multiplied in the forest wilds and many mighty eagles nested in the oaks.

   Of course, as with other islands, here too they speak of places where the Cossacks buried a large treasure in four goat’s hides inside an eight‑bucket barrel, and then they trampled the earth on top with horses. An old narrator’s account would not be complete without mention of a hidden treasure.

   The right bank of Tavolzhany Island is separated from the mainland by a channel 325 yards (300 m) wide, which along its entire length is strewn with boulders and small islets. During the spring floods the current is very strong here, crashing from rock to rock, howling, thundering, raising a high froth. The locals call this place porizhok (small rapid). Old memoirists and geographers name this as the thirteenth rapid: Tavolzhansky, Tavolzhany, Tavolzhannoi, Tavolzhan, however its proper name is Tavolzhana Zabora.

   Opposite the “head” of the island stand two rocks called Kabany (Boars), also known as Cherevko and Cherevcha or Cherevchenia. The first name stems from the fact that the rocks indeed resemble boars swimming about in the water; the second comes from pilot Cherevko, who “rubbed against the rocks here”.

   Toward the left bank of the river, opposite Cherevko and Cherevchenia, lies the small Orliv (Eagle’s) Island, included in Yegor Arapov’s 1780 “Plan of the River Dnipro”,127 now known to the pilots as Bobrovy (Beaver’s) Island. It is 840 yards (770 m) long and 245 to 350 feet (75‑105 m) wide, 15 to 25 feet (4.6 to 7.6 m) above the average summer water level, and 16.8 acres (6.8 ha) in area.

   The head of the island is of rock with several tall cliffs, the tail end is sandy silt. It once carried a fine stand of oak, but this was plundered and only stumps and low‑growing scrub remain. The flora of the island is poor. In 1890 it carried several young oaks, black poplar and willow. Bush vegetation here includes buckthorn, prickwood, red bilberry, sand‑willowgorse and Russian broom. There are also such herbaceous plants as wild tulip, ground ivy, coltsfoot, sedum, sparrow’s dock, wormwood, mullein and crested couch‑grass. The island is separated from the mainland by a channel some 160 yards (150 m) wide in spring flood. The mainland opposite the island has a steep rocky drop, which is overgrown with bushy trees. It is crawling with black snakes and there are plenty of yellow‑hammers.

   During Zaporozhian Cossack times Orliv Island was occupied by a fishing detachment led by Cossack Orel. Here he dried his nets and ropes, and here he lived out his life. From 1779 till 1860 the island belonged to the Svystunov family, then Russian merchants took it over. In 1845 and 1877 it was inundated by very high spring waters. In 1887 it was taken over by German colonists.

   Orlova Ravine enters the Dnipro on the left side, opposite the southern tail end of the island. Here there once grew a fine forest of oak, evidence of which are the many stumps and several young trees which have survived to the present day. Cossack Orel’s winter house stood here too.

   In the river on the right side, opposite the southern tip of Orliv Island stands Kriachyny (Duck) Rock or Kriachok. In summer ducks always settled on it and so it came by its name. In the spring the rock is inundated by water and then the locals call it Kriachyna Zabora.128
   Below Orliv Island the left bank is intersected by a string of ravines: Velyka Bytsulyna, Mala Bytsulyna and Tavolzhanka. From here one can see the small, but very high and craggy island made famous by its name Pérun, the locals placing the stress on the first syllable and even calling it Péren.

   When, for what reason and exactly who named the island no one knows, but what the local old men say about the island harks back to what the Rus’ chronicler wrote in 988 about Perun, the pagan god of our distant ancestors.

   “And When Volodymyr arrived he ordered that the idols be removed: some to be cut up and others given to fire. He ordered that Perun be tied to a horse’s tail and dragged from the Hill down Borychiv Ascent to the creek, and assigned twelve men to beat him with sticks. And this was done to him not as to wood, which can feel, but for the denigration of the devil. Since he tempted people this way, let him receive retribution from the people... And as he was being dragged along the creek to the Dnipro, the infidels bewailed him, for they had not yet accepted the Christian faith. And having dragged him down they tossed him into the Dnipro. And standing before the people, Volodymyr announced: ‘If he should come to shore anywhere then push him away, until he has crossed the rapids. Then you can leave him alone.’xlvi And they did as they were bid. When they let him go and he passed through the rapids, the wind cast him up onto a sandbar, which to this day is called Perun’s Sandbar.”129
   “Take a look at Perun Island, what do you think it resembles?” I was asked.

   “I have no idea,” I replied.

   “A dragon: this highest part here is the head; in the middle over there, where the girdle is, that’s its waist, and the end here is the dragon’s tail.”

   And it is true, if you look at the island from afar, it looks like a giant monster stretched out along the left bank of the Dnipro, its head facing north and tail pointing south, with a waist in the middle.

   “Our ancestors once had this pagan god which stood somewhere there in Kyiv. Well the Kyiv prince, Sviatoslav’s son, when he accepted the Christian faith, he pulled the god to the ground, dragged him down to the Dnipro and tossed him into the waters. Well the god began to float and float and float along till he reached the rapids and changed into an island right there.”

   “So is that the way it was?”

   “That’s how my grandpa told it to me, and he lived till he was ninety‑five and managed to hear a lot of things in his time.”130
   You could imagine that in the distant past this island did not exist, and instead there was a tall cliff jutting from the left bank of the Dnipro. Then one spring when the floods were very big a strong wall of water reached the tall riverside cliff and, unable to shift it, deflected off to the left, washing away the earth behind the cliff and creating Perun Island, just as high spring floods had done downstream, giving birth to the island of Velyka Khortytsia.

   Perun Island is 18.9 acres (7.6 ha) in area. It is 690 yards (630 m) long, 185 yards (170 m) wide, 50 to 60 feet (15‑18 m) at its middle part and 98 feet (30 m) at the highest point of its “head” above low water level. Perun is higher than Strilcha Cliff near Lokhansky Rapid, which is 30 feet (9 m) high, but lower than nearby Tavolzhany Island (150‑200 ft or 45‑60 m) or Velyka Khortytsia (300 ft, 90 m).

   On its western side Perun Island has a cave called Zmiyeva (Serpent’s), which one can enter only in July or August, when the water is low. Inside the cave is 17.5 feet (5.3 m) long, 28 to 42 inches (0.7‑1.1 m) wide and 42 inches (1.1 m) high; it ends in a rising narrow crevice. From spring until mid‑summer the cave is under water.

   In 1867 the Polish archeologist Podberezki described the cave thus: “Below water level in this rock (Perun) one can see a narrow fissure, the entrance into a serpent’s burrow, partly covered with sand. Inside this fissure opens into a large cave in which there are large numbers of human bones; an exit from it apparently rises steeply to the top of the cliff, but no one has yet investigated it.”131
   Because of this cave some maps of the rapids section of the Dnipro, as well as certain explorers, incorrectly refer to Perun as Zmeina Cliff.132 The river pilots and local villagers all call it Perun Island.

   The old pilots know this island very well and ascertain that it once carried a wonderful, luxurious, large dense forest: there were ancient oaks, Tatar maples, tall willowy osier, dense hawthorn; mighty eagles roosted here, frightening bug‑eyed owls, wild boars, wild goats and, among them all, countless numbers of snakes. Only stumps remain from the oaks today, and the crevices in the cliffs contain only small serpents.

   Zaporozhians lived on Perun Island as well, digging here for mica, which they used in place of glass. The Zaporozhians, they say, left behind a cellar dug in the middle of the island in the so‑called “girdle”. They say the Cossacks buried a whole canoe of money in that cellar, a canoe so large that ten men could sail across the Dnipro in it. Each year treasure‑seekers dig for money in that cellar, but still no one has found anything. Scholars have found only a few pottery shards here from the Neolithic Era. There are several legends how the cave and the island received its name.

   “Once upon a time a serpent‑king with three heads dwelt in that cave. And he had a beautiful daughter. The serpent watched over his daughter so that she wouldn’t fall in love with some Rus’ prince, but he didn’t watch over her well enough: the beauty sailed off with some knight down the Dnipro into the Black Sea. Ever since then the serpent became even more fierce, and each day flew off somewhere nearby to seek a new victim.”133
   “Once upon a time a serpent lived in the sky and flew all around the world; everyone feared him, and some even worshipped him. When the Lord found out that people worshipped the serpent, He took away his wings and the serpent fell from the sky into the Dnipro and swam down the river. The idol‑worshippers ran along the banks and screamed: ‘Pérun, Pérun, come to shore.’ The serpent swam up to the island and saw a deep burrow; and he disappeared into it. Since that time the island has been known as Perun.”

   “People say that Perun Island hasn’t always been here, but that a serpent came sailing down on it.134 As he sailed along, they say, idol‑worshippers ran along one bank and called him to come ashore, while the Orthodox came out on the other bank and began a service and incantations. Where our people stood with the church banners, there he sailed up and stopped. The serpent’s burrow on the river side of the island was said to be very deep, but after the serpent died the cliff came tightly together and the burrow was no more. That’s the way people say it was, but I couldn’t tell you, if it’s the truth.”

   Here is what I heard about this island from the old people. One day god Perun was sailing down the Dnipro and a wave washed him up onto the island; he was buried here and then later dug up. They say he was covered with three poods (108 lbs, 49 kg) of gold, though he was made of wood. After that the island began to be called Perun. There is a burrow on the river side of the island: “They say a serpent once lived there and they brought him people to eat. The burrow was called Zmiyeva.”xlvii
   “As far back as anyone can remember the island has been called Perun. It has a tall cliff in which, on the river side, there is a natural grotto.135 Up until Christ’s birth a serpent lived there, plundering all the women and girls and eating the men. When Christ was born He condemned the serpent and then a hero defeated him. They say the serpent had wings and three heads. When he flew along, he lit up the whole world and the fire could be seen by all.”136
   Opposite the middle of Perun Island, 37 yards (34 m) from the island’s right bank lies Revun (Roarer) Rock, on the “Atlas of Part of the River Dnepr in 1863” it is called Reut, on the 1875 “General Staff Map” – Revun.

   When Revun Rock was measured on 3 December in the winter of 1890 its height was 5 feet (1.5 m), length 15.5 yards (14.2 m), width 35 feet (10.6 m), circumference – 42 yards (38.3 m). On a quiet summer’s night before the change of the hour they say the din of Revun becomes a hollow groan, sometimes a deafening roar, with a ring to it, and then it can be heard far away. When one looks at its eternally white foaming waves in summer, it seems like a flock of sheep jumping about or fleeces which are being tossed into the air. “Revun boils like felt being turned over in a felting works.” Which is why the locals call the rock Suknovalnia (Fullery).137
   Right after the tail end of Tavolzhany Island come Orlovi (Eagle’s) Rocks, followed by Holovkovi Rocks and beyond them lies Bily (White) Island. The island bears this name in Pushchin’s 1784 “Dnepr Atlas” and in M.N.Bukhtiev’s “List of Islands”; people living close to the riverbank know it by this name too. On the “General Staff Map” it is given as Orlinaya Strelitsa, and on the “Atlas of Part of the River Dnepr in 1863” it is marked as Orlyny (Eagle) Island, which is also the name by which the river pilots know it.

   “We’ve called this island Bily as far back as I can remember,” says 92‑year‑old grandpa Tymish Dragan from the village of Ovramivka. “Perhaps it’s called that because of all the white sand on it. I haven’t heard whether it has ever supported any large trees, but osier bushes grew on it in the past, just as they do now. They say this small island used to be the home of a Zaporozhian Cossack named Baiduzhy (Indifferent). As a youth Baiduzhy had been a steppe fighter, but when he grew old he became a settler. He had a fishing camp on the island and then lived out his last years in the ravine on the Dnipro’s right bank opposite the island.”138
   Bily Island is truly small: only 500 yards (455 m) long, 77 to 93 yards (70‑85 m) wide and 30 to 35 feet (9.0‑10.7 m) at its highest point; in area the island is 6.8 acres (2.75 ha). In 1845 it was almost completely inundated, save for the tip of its “head”. The surface of the island is strewn with loose white sand and has poor vegetation: spindly trees, grass, coltsfoot, sedge, sedum, alluvial scrubby black poplar, with sparse patches of osier and sand‑willow; only sometimes in April are there large numbers of morel mushrooms. However many artifacts of varying ages have been found on the island: pistols, sabres, daggers and lead bullets.

   Along the left bank opposite Bily Island one notices a wide denuded stretch covered in sand. This is a very valuable area for the archeologist. At every step there are signs of ancient human habitation: ovens, pottery shards, amphorae, flint chips, bronze arrowheads, colourful beads; and above the valley which bisects this stretch there are ancient burial grounds near which are various charred bones, wild boar tusks and, scattered throughout the sand – broken pieces of pottery.

   Opposite the end of Bily Island which is up against the right bank of the Dnipro, stands the so‑called Zoloty (Gold) Rock and, further along the same bank, stretches Ovramiv or Neshchotny Island.

   Ovramiv Island begins with tall cliffs which gradually recede and finish in a long but narrow sand bar. It occupies no more than three acres (one hectare) of land. During the spring floods more than half the island is hidden under water. In times past, when trees still grew upon it, this island had been higher. But after the trees had been felled, the water eroded it and greatly reduced its height. Now, apart from osier and some grasses, it supports no other plant life. In the 1860s and 1870s there were still some bush willows growing there but these were subsequently destroyed as well. 

   At one time a Zaporozhian Cossack named Ovram fished from this island, living a little upstream in Ovramova Ravine. After Ovram, a Cossack named Neshchotny came to the island from Hetmanite Ukrainexlviii and built a tavern here on the riverbank opposite the island. The tavern was always frequented by the Lithuanians who worked on the rafts. Sometimes so many people gathered here, it was like a fair. Lush grass grew on the river’s bank, so that those who carted goods by oxen would send their animals to pasture while they drank and caroused in the tavern. When the river pilots unexpectedly came across strong winds near Tavolzhan, they hurried to Ovramiv Island and dropped anchor there. Anchors failed to hold near Tavolzhan, dragging across the rocky bottom, but near Ovramiv Island they held well and the pilot was able to save his vessel. Ovramiv Island was “a river pilot’s port of necessity”.

   After the abolition of the Zaporozhian Sich, Ovramiv Island and land adjacent to it were granted to second‑major Yakov Nabadiev.139
   Later the land passed into the hands of Major Liubim Korostovtsev, infamous among the villagers for his great ferocity, because of which he died a tragic death.140 In 1797 Korostovtsev’s settlement was called Nabadiev‑Ovramivka, with a total population of 39 men and 25 women.141 After the death of Major Korostovtsev all his property was inherited by his relative Malchenko, who passed it on to Pikhotynsky, which gave rise to the name Ovramivka‑Pikhotynska. Pikhotynsky sold the land to the Germans, the villagers being left “with 2.7 acres (1.1 ha) per registered soul”.142
   Below Ovramiv Island stand the two Holovkovi Rocks and beyond them in the middle of the Dnipro rises Storozhovy (Sentry) or Sporny Island, right opposite Ovramivka‑Pikhotynska. In Arapov’s 1780 plan it is given as being one mile (1.6 km) long and 325 yards (296 m) wide, but shown as being close to the right bank. According to an 1843 map its area is 3.2 acres (1.3 ha). However, this figure cannot be taken as stable, for each year the Dnipro either washes away or adds to its banks. From the 1850s Storozhovy Island began to be called Spirny (Conflict) Island, because two landowners, Pikhotynsky, who lived on the right bank of the Dnipro and Ivanenko, who lived on the left bank, had fought a long legal battle over it. Now this island supports a very sparse vegetation, willow and osier grow here and there at its edges, but once it had been quite different: “Once it had been long and wide and supported a forest which teemed with animals and birdlife. Its name comes from the Cossack times when a Cossack sentry stood here, so the Turks would not harm the land. In 1845 the island was badly eroded by floodwaters and many trees were washed away. Afterwards people found sabres and Cossack pistols there.”143
   Klobukivsky Island, called variously by today’s locals as Dubovy (Oak), Vynohradny (Grape) or Velyky (Big) Island, as opposed to Maly (Small) or Lozovaty Island. It is called Klobukivsky on Arapov’s 1780 “Plan of the River Dnepr”, and is also referred to by this name by M.Bukhtiev, a researcher of the Dnipro islands; today’s river pilots from Stary Kodak and Lotsmanska Kamianka call it by the same name. In the “Map of the Granted Lands of Landholder Gizhitsky in 1800” it named Vynohradny. On old maps it was shown as being 0.83‑1.0 mile (1.3‑1.6 km) long and 290 yards (270 m) wide. According to new measurements it is 980 yards (895 m) long, 58‑98 yards (53‑90 m) wide, 30 feet (9 m) at its highest point and 16.5 acres (6.7 ha) in area.

   In olden times Klobukivsky Island had wonderful vegetation: there were stands of oak, elm, black poplar, osier and wild grape. In the times of the Zaporozhian Sich various wintering Cossacks lived here: Klobuk, Kabluk, Krasul’ka, Chepynoha. Cossack Klobuk had a wife whom he hated very much and wanted to dispose of. So one day he sat her a top a steep cliff on the island’s shore, ingratiated himself with her and then pushed her over the edge into the river. And that is how the island got its name.144
   However, people inhabited Klobukivsky Island long before Cossack times, back in the Stone and Bronze Ages. Proof of this are the continuing finds here of flint chips, entire flint knives, breakers, scrapers, pieces of plain and ornamented earthenware and clay pottery.

   The Aleyev homestead once stood on the right bank of the Dnipro opposite Klobukivsky Island. There are no records to show who that first Aleyev was nor how he had recieved this land. There are only family narratives that the first owner of this land was a Turkish officer called Ali, who was taken captive in the Russo‑Turkish War during the reign of Catherine the Great, and who became baptized in Rus’, then married a Rus’ woman and was granted land near the Dnipro. Across from the Aleyev homestead, against the right bank of the Dnipro, is a small, but very picturesque outcrop named Zakbeyev Cliff. The old story‑tellers say that a Zaporozhian Cossack named Zahbey lived there; he was a very rich wizard of a Cossack and had heaps of money, which he buried under the cliff before his death.

   Kablukova Ravine, once the home of Cossack Kabluk, comes out onto the Dnipro below the cliff. Because of that Kabluk the old people used to call Klobukivsky Island – Kablukivsky.

   At this point there are four rocks in the Dnipro – Prasulyny and Skovorody (Frypans), which the pilots take great care to avoid in high water.

   In a straight line downstream from Klobukivsky Island lies Lozuvaty (Osier) Island, “just a cudgel’s throw away.” Lozuvaty Island appears to have once been an extension of Klobukivsky. This is one of the smaller islands on the Dnipro, being, according to one set of measurements, 5.4 acres (2.2 ha) in area and, according to another – 3.7 acres (1.5 ha), its length being 400 yards (370 m) and at its greatest width it is 44 yards (40.5 m) and 25 feet (7.6 m) high. It supports oaks, black poplars, willows and is completely surrounded by tall green osier.

   The osier grows straight out of the water and stands with its tops bowed low. It is reflected in the mighty Dnipro as if in a large, expensive shining mirror. The island is a flower, a fresh, verdant green flower tossed by some hand onto the river’s surface, gently bobbing and swaying in the water. It is a wonderful picture painted by Nature herself, transferring the beholder to cheerful and happy times in his life; it brings on magical daydreams and allows a person to forget everything sad and forlorn, which exists in his life. This is definitely the most extraordinary of the islands in the stretch between the rapids...

   Ihnativka Settlement, also known as Berdyna and Novo‑Oleksandrivka, lies on the right side of the river, opposite Klobukivsky and Lozuvaty islands.

   After the abolition of the Zaporozhian Sich and the carving up of the Cossack lands, the land along the river near these islands, together with the islands themselves, was granted to Colonel Ivan Rek. In 1784 there was a settlement here named Ivanivka in his honour. Soon after, the land was transferred to Ihnat Gizhitsky, who renamed the settelement to Ihnativka.

   Lieutenant‑general N.Berdiayev ruled here after Colonel Gizhitsky, followed by Alexander Aleyev, after which the settlement became Novo‑Oleksandrivka.

   Bobriv (Beaver) Island, also known as Kuchuhurny, Rybalsky (Fishermen’s) and Orliv Island, lies near the left bank of the Dnipro, a little upstream from Kukharsky (Cook’s) Island. On Arapov’s 1780 “Plan of Part of the River Dnepr” it is called Kuchuhurny Island, because of the high sandhills on the left bank of the river. On the 1843 estate map of landowner Ivanenko it is called Rybalsky Island; on the “General Staff Map” it is Orlyny. The island is 607 yards (554 m) long, 115 yards (105 m) at its widest point and 25‑35 feet (7.6‑10.7 m) high; its total area is 8 acres (3.2 ha). It supports oak, black poplar, the occasional willow and an abundance of osier, which completely surrounds the island. In Zaporozhian times they say beavers inhabited the island, which is how it received its name. When the beavers disappeared and the island became the domain of fishermen, it became Rybalsky. Even now fishermen camp here every summer, living in their hovels the whole season.

VI

   Constantine VII calls it Lyshniy Rapid or Struvun in Rus’ and Naprezy in Slav, which he translates as “Tiny Rapid”. It is listed as Lychnoy on “The Dnipro Atlas”, Lychna in “Ancient Russian Hydrography” and Kniga bol’shomu chertezhu, Lychny in academic Lerberg’s works. Standing 9.3 miles (14.9 km) below Budylsky Rapid opposite the large Kukharev Island, it falls in two cascades: Plos’ka (Flat) and Shvaichyna. On the right side it is 510 yards (470 m) long and on the left – 203 yards (185 m). The water falls 1.5 feet (0.45 m), the channel depth above the rapid is 10 feet (3.0 m) and below the rapid – 6 feet (1.83 m).

   Below Lyshniy Rapid on the 1751 “General Map” of engineer‑colonel de‑Beauxette the “Malyshevsky retrenchment” is placed on the right bank of the Dnipro.

   Lyshnia Ravine lies on the left bank of the Dnipro. Eighty‑year‑old Yakiv Rybalka from the village of Andriyivka, Oleksandrivka District has this to say about the ravine:

   “At one time that Lyshnia Ravine teemed with animals and birds. As a youth I was an avid hunter. In winter the wife would be shovelling ashes from the stove and say to me: ‘Why don’t you shake a leg and shoot a hare for lunch.’ ‘All right,’ I’d reply. ‘Stoke up the oven right away,’ I’d tell her. She’d fetch some straw, and I went for my rifle. No sooner did I step foot in Lyshnia Ravine, than “ba‑bang!” I’d skin big‑ears at home and so you had a fur and meat to boot. There were stories about there being buried treasure in Lyshnia. Just before New Year’s six of us grabbed some guns and a pickaxe; the pickaxe was to dig for money and the weapons just in case. It was a fierce winter that year, there was a terrible frost; we reached the hole where the treasure was supposed to be hidden and squatted. But we couldn’t hold out, our feet froze. Although we were wearing fur‑lined pants, good boots and foot‑cloths made of woollen dress material, it was no help. ‘Well, lads,’ I said, ‘let’s go into the elm grove and wait there.’ We went there. Each of us leaned back against an elm and danced about on the spot. Then we spied something glimmering among the bushes a dozen times or so. Then lights went on, like little lamps. What kind of a sign is this, we thought? Then the lights seemed to move toward us. When coins burn, they sparkle in the one spot, but this was different. You could say it was like people walking with candles, but why would they be here at this time of day? Unless they were departed souls? We stood in wonderment, rooted to the ground by fear. Then they suddenly went jump, jump, jump across the ditch and made toward. Then we saw that it was a dozen wolves. We nearly died of fright there and then... The damned beasts smelt our powder and immediately darted off to one side and beat a retreat through the blackthorn. There you have your treasure, a whisker away from death.”145
   Andriyivka‑Ivanenkovo lies on the left bank. It used to be an old Zaporozhian settlement. Wintering Cossack farmers Ostap Velehura, Yeretyk and others once lived here.

   After the abolition of the Zaporozhian Sich the colonel of the Poltava lance regiment Andriy Levanidov was granted 32,400 acres (13,100 hectares) of land on the left bank, which included half the river Dnipro together with the islands Perun, Bily, Kukharsky and a small island in the Orlovy channel. In return he was obliged to set up a village there. In 1779 old Zaporozhian Cossack Ostap Velehura, who had long lived in the area, rejoicing at Levanidov’s presence, led some free people out of the Sorochyntsi and Kobeliaky grants and settled upstream from Lyshnia Ravine, which enters the Dnipro at the sandhills opposite Bobrovy Island, near Kruhlyk outcrop.

   In 1782 this same Andriy Levanidov bought another 32,400 acres of land from his neighbour major‑general Khvedor Tolstoy, together with the village of Khvedorivka, located on the same left bank of the Dnipro below Andriyivka, in a ravine near the mouth of the river Vilna (Free) or Vilnianka, which also empties into the Dnipro. In 1783 villagers from Khvedorivka were moved to Andriyivka, upstream from Lyshnia Ravine.

   In 1797 an archival note in Oleksandrivsk’sxlix Pokrovsky Cathedral stated: “The estate of lieutenant‑general and cavalier Andrei Yakovlevich Levanidov fully became the property of a lord of the Little Russian guberniya, the Pereyaslav District titular councillor (in other papers “marshal”) Moisey Mikhailovich Ivanenko.”

   But in 1798 the village was moved from the right to the left side of Lyshnia Ravine. At first the village bore the name of its first founder Levanydivka or Andriyivka, but afterwards it came to be known as Andriyivka‑Ivanenkovo. It stands on the slope of a hill and is intersected by the ravines Sukhen’ka (Dry), Yeretycha and Kruten’ka (Steep).

   “Yeretycha Ravine is named after a Zaporozhian Cossack named Yeretyk, a wizard who performed great miracles. Some people he helped and others he terrified greatly. He charmed enemy rifles and bullets so that they would not hit the Cossacks, turned people into werewolves, vampires and devils. All the evil spirits listened to him.

   “The very spot where Andriyivka‑Ivanenkovo now stands was once rich and luxurious. There were countless numbers of animals, birds and fish there. In the past you tossed in a net or a triple dragnet into the water and the fish would swim right into it; but now either the fish have become smart or there are fewer of them and more of us... There was plenty of game and birds in our living memory, but even more in our grandfathers’ times. When the Zaporozhians lived here the steppes were deserted except for the odd settlement. Old people say that in the past when you came out onto the Dnipro and looked towards the spit it was black and white with birds. And if you fired a rifle, the skies clouded over. And the spit reverberated to the cries of cranes and herons, gulls and ducks, snipe and duck. And there were swarms of ducks and swans. And the animals! Countless wolves, foxes, hares, marmots and wild goats – it was frightening to think! There were none of these gophers then. They came from the west, and there was such a mass of them, that you couldn’t drive a cart anywhere. They reached the Dnipro and kept moving all the way to the far side.”146
    The Dnipro banks and the land around Andriyivka‑Ivanenkovo are also interesting because of the finds by villagers of stone axes, hammers, knives, scrapers and grain grinders, especially in Yeretychna and Sukhenka ravines; and from the barrow between these ravines people unearthed black clay amphorae and other earthenware and clay crockery. Chain mail and small cannon could be found in the lord’s manor house and in his yard, and these had been unearthed somewhere in the neighbourhood.147
   Opposite Andriyivka‑Ivanenkovo stretches Kukharsky or Kukhariv (Cook’s) Island. Although it is a large and easily noticeable island, neither Lassota nor Beauplan make any mention of it.

   In the 1697 “Register of Rivers and Landmarks Along Both Banks of the Dnepr”, among the other islands in the Dnipro rapids there is a “Velyky Lychny Island” below Tavolzhanka Ravine.148 It may be assumed that this “Velyky Lyshniy” island is in fact Kukhariv Island: firstly because it takes its name from Lyshniy Rapid; secondly, because for this area it is truly large, and thirdly because it does lie below Tavolzhany Island.

   In 1770 regimental quartermaster Stefan Lukomsky wrote about an island among the Dnipro Rapids called Kokhany (Beloved): “The Zaporozhian Cossacks lived primarily on the Dnipro islands... Of these the three most famous were: Kokhan, which was several miles long and lay between the rapids, forty miles from Kiev. When the Cossacks returned to this island, the Tatars, having heard of their return, are no longer keen to cross at the Kremenchuk and Kiuchman crossings to the far side of the Dnepr into Rus’ and Poland to seek booty. A second island near this one is called Khortytsky. The third island is called Tomakivsky.”149
   To accept Kokhany Island as being Kukharsky is impossible, for the name “Kukharsky” stems from the German word Koch, meaning “cook”, while the name “Kokhany” comes from the Ukrainian word kokhaty, meaning “to love”.

   On Arapov’s 1780 “Plan of the Dnepr” the island is called Kukharskoy, in vice‑admiral Pushchin’s 1784 “Dnepr Atlas” and in academic Lerberg’s “Studies” as well as in Afanasiev‑Chuzhbynsky’s “Essays” it is given as Kukharsky; Bukhtiev and Pavlovich call it Kukharev.

   If one looks at Kukharsky Island from a height, one will notice that it is shaped like a large pear, its tail facing north. Its length is 1.3‑1.6 miles (2.1‑2.7 km), its width 0.66 to 1 mile (1.0-1.6 km), its greatest height at the head is 100 feet (30.5 m) with a total area of 580 acres (235 ha). The soil is sandy black earth and sandy loam. The land surface is uneven; it has ravines, small and large holes, and trenches. The trees – oak, elm, wild pear, maple and willow – grow in stands and singly. Herbaceous plants include lush feather‑grass, snowdrops, lily of the valley and couch grass. The island provides plenty of good, fragrant hay. Small and large game abound on the island: steppe gophers, hedgehogs, foxes, hares, ferrets, steppe antelope and wild goats. Birds include black grouse, ohar duck and cormorants.150
   Spring floodwaters never inundate Kukharsky Island, which is why in both prehistoric and historical times people have always lived here, so that the island contains various artifacts. Plenty of petrified wood has been found in the waters around the island, but it could be removed from the water only with oxen, and then with great difficulty.

   After the abolition of the Sich, Cossack settlers continued living on the island for a long time, tilling the land, fishing and bee‑keeping; there were a multitude of beehives here. The names of those Cossacks survive to this day in the names of surrounding outcrops and rivers: Kachkar, Palamar, Babak, Venher, Maiboroda, Yavtukh.

   Muravny or Lyshniy Island stands in the middle of the Dnipro. According to surveys carried out in 1843 its area was 1.86 acres (0.75 ha), after which it was reduced to 0.6 acres (0.24 ha) through erosion; in summer the island’s rocky “head” rises 35‑37 feet (10.7‑11.3 m) above the water. The river pilots call this place Devil’s Head and are very wary of it. These same river pilots call the island Lyshniy, which comes from the rapid of the same name. The island supports black poplar, bush‑willow and osier.

   Opposite the island’s sandy spit, on the right side is Syvy (Grey) Rock, and on the left side – Kopychuvaty Rock.

   Below Kukharsky Island, toward the left bank of the river, opposite the tail‑end of Andriyivka‑Ivanenkovo, lies the lush green and very picturesque Gavyny (Crow) Island. In Cossack times settler‑Cossacks lived here; after the free Cossack lands were divided up, the island became the property of major‑general F.Tolstoy in 1777. In 1782, together with the steppe lands, it was transferred to brigadier, later to become lieutenant‑general, A.Levanidov and finally in 1797 to marshall Musiy Ivanenkov.

   There is no information about this island from the 16th or 17th centuries. All the information we have dates from the 18th century. In vice‑admiral Pushchin’s 1784 “Dnepr Atlas” it appears as Gaveny Island, academic Lerberg calls it Govennoy; researcher M.Bukhtiev refers to it as Gavan.

   According to one set of measurements it is 0.66 miles (1 km) long, according to others 1.0 mile (1.6 km), its width ranging from 115‑230 yards (106‑213 m), its height in autumn is 30‑45 feet (9‑13.7 m) above the water; it is 75.5 acres (30.5 ha) in area.

   The head of the island, which faces upstream, is strewn with rocks. In flood the water cuts a narrow channel through the island’s head, which the fishermen call a “train”. The island’s soil is partly sand, partly sandy loam, and in parts very good black earth from rotted leaves. This is one island which is rich in forest and grasses. Here one can find slender oaks several years old, black and white poplars, elm, black maple, willow, spindle tree, dense sloe, buckthorn, osier, sand‑willow, wild grapes and hops.

   Herbaceous plants on the island include lily of the valley, bluebells, century plant, comfrey, snakeweed, grey cress, coltsfoot, soap grass, wild thyme, wormwood, tricolor violet and yellow tulip. Many of these herbs are used by herbalists and midwives. There are many birds here too. Orioles, starlings, cuckoos and hoopoes come here in the spring; there are especially large numbers of nightingales, who usually arrive after the tenth of April.

   Crows also love this island and gave it its name – Gavyny. Some of the island’s trees are black with crows’ nests, like a sky covered in leaden clouds before a storm.

   “The Zaporozhian Cossacks called the island Gavyny and so do we. It has a forest and many crow’s nests, which is why it’s called Gavyny. That’s what people once told me, and that’s what I’m repeating. In the spring when the crows hatch, all you hear is their ‘gah, gah, gah!’ They go mad before a storm and at night as well. There is no denser or better forest than on Gavyny Island. At one time there were plenty of hops and grapes there; perhaps you can still find some now, but there’s very little left. And the animals that lived there! Especially wild goats. They were still there in my memory, but in my father’s and grandfather’s time there were incomparably more. Those who are now departed used to recount that in the summer when the waters fell the goats could be seen swimming from Lantukhivsky to Gavyny Island and vice versa. You saw only their horns bobbing about above the water and there were so many of them, it looked like the water was carrying along a ramose oak. And the wild game! ... Although the Zaporozhians lived here, people say they didn’t chase after the game much, preferring fish and ducks. I still remember looking at the sandbar, seeing all those swans, cranes, geese and ducks covering the spit like a flock of sheep. After the Cossacks left, much of the game was killed off, a lot of it disappeared in my time too. There were still goats there until the great flood of 1845, but after that they’ve been hard to spot.”151
   Near the tail end of Gavyny Island, on its right side, lurks an island‑rock called Smyrny (Tame). It doesn’t bother anyone which is how it came by its name.

   Beside Gavyny Island stretches Lantukhivsky Island, also known as Dubovy (Oak) or Vynohradny (Grape), also Lachynivsky or Nimetsky (German). The island is called Dubovy in the 1697 “Register of Rivers and Landmarks Along Both Banks of the Dnepr River from Perevolochna”: “A large [island] called Lychnoy, and beyond it Duboviy, above Volny Rapid.”152 On Arapov’s 1780 “Plan of the Dnepr River” and vice‑admiral Pushchin’s 1784 “Dnepr Atlas”, in the works of Lerberg and M.Bukhtiev it is called Lantukhov; Afanasiev‑Chuzhbynsky lists it as Lantukhovsky. In the 1780 “Economic Landmarks of the Ekaterinoslav Uezd” it is given as Lantukhovy: “The small village of Vinogradovka with the island of Lantukhovy, also known as Dubovy, property of court adviser M.V.Kokhovsky.”153  On the “General Staff Topographical Map” it appears as Vynohradny, the local villagers call it Lantukhivsky, Lachynivsky or Nimetsky.

   During the times of the Zaporozhian Cossacks this island was called Dubovy; only afterwards did the Cossacks begin to call it Lantukhivsky. Which Lantukh (Sack) gave his name to this island? Temish Dragan, a 92‑year‑old man from Ovramivka says that apparently the island was once home to a fishing camp of a Zaporozhian named Lantukh. The history of the Zaporozhian Cossacks provides us with two Cossacks bearing this name: in 1763 Khvedir Lantukh “made a gift of a mineonl to the Mezhyhirsky Monastery.”154 Hryhoriy Khvedorovych Lantukh was the koshovy leader of all the Zaporozhian army in 1755‑1756, 1758, 1761 and 1763.155 However which of these Lantukhs owned Lantukhivsky Island is impossible to tell.

   The name Vynohradny (Grape) stems from the fact that in the middle of the island almost every tree and bush are entwined and darkened by wild grapes and their eternal companion – the hops. Back then, says an eyewitness, the islands and Hadiucha and Vilna ravines were covered in wild grape. In the times of Empress Catherine General Kokhovsky cultivated grapes here of the same variety as the khan had. There was a settlement called Vynohradivka, and it had a vineyard with black, white and yellow grapes the size of a dove’s egg, which tasted like honey.156 The name Lachynivsky hails from a landowner, Pavlo Omelianovych Lachynov, who lived here after nobleman Petro Stepanovych Sydelsky and junior captain Vasyl Mykhailovych Shlikhtin. The island began to be called Nimetsky after the surrounding land, together with the island, was bought by the German colonist Korniy Korniyovych Henrikhs.

   Lantukhivsky Island is larger than Gavyny. It is 1.7‑2.0 miles (2.7‑3.2 km) long, varies in width from 580‑1400 feet (180‑426 m), and is 20‑24 feet (6‑7.3 m) high; its area is 154 acres (62 ha), with the sandy spits – 167  acres (67.7 ha). In 1845 and 1877 the greater part of the island was flooded. The northern part of the island is covered in oak forest of average size; there is also the occasional graceful straight old oak among the white poplars, willows, black poplars and bush willow.

   The herbaceous plants on this low island include lily of the valley and comfrey, the pasque‑flower, which we are accustomed to seeing on hard uncultivated steppe or on such high islands as Tavolzhany, Kukharsky and Khortytsia. Closer to the southern end of the island, as if for diversity, stands a magnificent cliff whose summit and fissures are overgrown with pink rosettes of bugle Sempervivum globulferum).

   On the east side the island is partly bisected by a ditch 56‑84 feet (17‑26 m) wide which carries water in times of flood. This ditch is called a “train”. Here the locals always have the good fortune to net carp, bream and other fish.

   In the times of the Zaporozhians Lantukhivsky Island had wild goats and there were hordes of them. But in 1845, when water inundated the island, they withdrew to the Big Meadow. A goat is quick in the water and can effortlessly swim 6 miles (10 km).157 Opposite the middle of Lantukhivsky Island, on the Dnipro’s right bank, stands the settlement of Pysmacheva, shown on the “Atlas of Part of the River Dnepr in 1863”; and further down, opposite the end of Lantukhivsky Island lies Pryvolna‑Cherniavsky.

   Below Lantuklhivsky Island, directly opposite its tail‑end, protrudes a small islet called Seleven or Maly Islet, being less than 2.7 acres (1 ha) in area. One could assume that it had once been part of Lantukhivsky Island and was eroded off by high spring waters or ice floes, becoming an independent island.

   Vilna Ravine comes down to the Dnipro at this point on the left side. In this ravine, about 0.7 miles (1 km) from its mouth is a cave called Chortova Khata (Devil’s House). The cave was fashioned by Mother Nature in the craggy right bank of the ravine; there is a big overhang above it which comes forward a little; the cave is about 28 feet (8.5 m) long, some 14 feet (4.2 m) wide, and not quite 4.7 feet (1.4 m) high, because of which one can stand inside it only bent double. Chortova Khata resembles a simple Ukrainian oven with a large mouth through which one can freely enter and exit. The cave once contained various shards of broken pottery, flakes of flint, dessicated human and animal bones, but now there is nothing there, for shepherds often shelter here in bad weather, even lighting fires inside in cold weather.

   Below the islet of Seleven lies Strilets Island, also called Seredniy (Middle) Island on the new maps of the Dnipro; it is close to 24.3 acres (9.8 ha) in area.

   Below Strilets lies Pokhyly (Bent) Island, 10.8 acres (4.4 ha) in area. The river pilots explain the island’s name thus: the island stands close to the right bank of the Dnipro and enters the river in a semicircle. When a vessel sails past the island seems to bow or move toward the vessel. However, the old local narrators have a different story: the island was a long time home to the Zaporozhian Cossack Pokhylo, who “was in love with bees” and had a large apiary on the island, making a living by fishing. The island’s soil is sandy, its banks, especially the northeastern one, are strewn with large boulders; the entire island is overgrown with scrubby black poplar, osier, maple and oak. Obviously there was a big forest here once, but it has been long since destroyed. Pokhyly Island is a valuable area for the archeologist, for here one can find shards of pottery from prehistoric times, flakes of flint, whole flint knives, stone chippers, also polishing depressions on various rocks. Sirenka Zabora lies near Pokhyly Island, and further down, up against the right bank of the Dnipro, stands Vovchok Cliff, some 60‑70 feet (18‑21 m) high. Opposite the head of Vovchok is a small, but craggy and wild island called Kraichyny, or more succinctly – Kriachok.

   Skvortsev Island rises opposite Kriachok; this is the name it bears in “Atlas of Part of the River Dnepr in 1863”. However, the river pilots call this island Shkvarchiv, from the Ukrainian word shkvarchaty – “to sizzle”, for the water flows between these two island with such force that it sizzles rather than boils. Skhvarchiv Island is a little larger than Kraichyny, but is similarly strewn with boulders, covered in scrubby forest and is rich in prehistoric relics.

   All the river pilots know these two islands well, but even better known is the narrow and winding canal,158 which flows at breakneck speed between these islands and which the river pilots call Vovchok or Vovche Horlo (Wolf’s Throat).

   For every river pilot who navigates a vessel or raft down the Dnipro, this is a very dangerous place; it is a decisive test of his skills. Here he sinks or swims. Manoeuvring the raft long before he has reached the channel, the river pilot begins to jockey the raft into position, so that when it reaches the channel itself, it travels down the middle of the current, without “licking” either Kriachok or Shkvarchok. To make it fortuitously through this frightening maw requires an unbeliavable effort by the oarsmen at both the head and tail of the raft and an unusual ability on the river pilot’s part. Having passed safely through Vovche Horlo, one must not forget that below it lies Sobache Horlo (Dog’s Throat). If a river pilot strikes the cliffs of Kriachok or Shkvarchok his good name is ruined forever. Of course river pilots take rafts through Vovche Horlo only in calm, very calm weather, but if a wind “breathes” unexpectedly and the water becomes “splotchy”, the river pilot manoeuvres his raft up against Kriachyny Island and drops anchor.

   “Vovche Horlo,” says K.Ia.Bolshak, an old river pilot, “is a very frightening spot in the rapids. Each time a river pilot draws near, he feels anxious and strains every muscle. On entering Vovche Horlo, he does not stand in the one spot, but dashes from one end to the other, relentlessly waving his fist this way and that, showing the rowers which course to steer, yelling at the top 9of his voice, imploring the rowers to strain for all they are worth and not let the raft wander off course, begging even the vessel itself not run foul and survive the cruel battle with this frightful maw. Before entering Vovche Horlo, a river pilot will remember everything, as they say, both the rudder and the helm.”159
   The final rapid on the Dnipro – Vilny – is at the spot where Voche Horlo lies. 

Chapter 7

   Vilny (Free) or Hadiuchy (Serpent’s) Rapid, else known as Vovchok Rapid, is one of the larger rapids, however it is amazingly absent from the account of Constantine VII. On the “Hydrographic Map of the Dnipro Rapids” it is named Vilny. On the “Dnipro Atlas”, in “Ancient Russian Hydrography” and Kniga bol’shomu chertezhu it is called Volnoi, in academic Lerberg’s Issledovanie it goes by Volny, while the local villagers call it Hadiuchy or Vovchok. It lies 3.6 miles (5.8 km) below Lyshniy Rapid. On the right side it is 1082 yards (988 m) long, on the left side – 886 yards (809 m) long, with a fall of 9.45 feet (2.87 m). It falls in six cascades: Sirenka, Pokhyla, Radova, Pereima, Vovche Horlo and Shynkareva, just before which rises a tall large rock called Korabel (Ship). The channel depth of the river above and below the rapid is 12 feet (3.66 m). It has a stone‑lined canal with smooth walls 933 yards (852 m) long.

   Opposite Vilny Rapid, Vilna Ravine approaches the Dnipro on the left, and on the right bank lies Hadiucha Ravine. No one knows which of them received their name from which: the rapids from the ravines or vice versa.

   Small wonder that the locals call Vilny Rapid – Hadiuchy: there are lots of snakes here, mostly black snakes, both on the rocks and in the ravines coming down to the rapid, and in the river itself. Especially on the left bank, which is wild, deserted and rocky, as well as in the high dense reeds along the banks. The water here is so nice, so clean and clear, and it so beckons a person to swim in it, yet the water among the reeds is alive with the protruding black heads of snakes.

   Opposite Vilny Rapid, close to the left bank of the Dnipro, a small landing was made and a small tripod was erected upon it, which once had a cast‑iron plate attached to it bearing the words [in Russian]: “Bypass channels for vessels through the Dnipro rapids were built on the orders of Emperor Nicholas I under the direction of the commander‑in‑chief of transport and public buildings, aide‑de‑campe‑general Kleinmikhel. Works begun in 1843, completed in 185...” The last number on the plate has been broken off; but from other sources it is evident that the works were completed in 1854.

   Vilny, Hadiuchy, or even Vovchok Rapid is the last of the rapids. The rapids on the Dnipro are a great danger to every river pilot who navigates vessels or rafts down the Dnipro. The old people say that it is not so much the rapids themselves that are frightening to the river pilots: a good pilot knows all the rapids like the inside of his own pocket: he knows every cascade of every rapid and all the passes through the rocks. The river pilot is more scared of the devils, which sit in every rapid and do their work. Thus in Kodak Rapid the devils drown people; all the devils congregate at Sursky Rapid to cavort in it, because it is an insignificant rapid, and they cavort with dung as black as tar; the most senior of the devils, Vernyvod, sits in Lokhansky Rapid; there the devils smash rafts; in Dzvonetsky Rapid they overturn boats; in Nenasytetsky they make the water turbulent and piss into the pilots’ boats; Vernyvod visits them and pays them for their work; in Vovnyzky rapid the devils do nothing, except sharpen their pitchforks in Peklo (Hell); in Vovchok lives the chief devil’s wife with her she‑devils; she also creates a storm in the waters of Vovche Horlo.

   So that is why all the river pilots find the rapids so frightening.161
   In the times of the Zaporozhian Cossacks the settlement of Mychuryn stood on the right bank of the Dnipro, opposite Vilny Rapid, appearing on the 1780 “Plan of Part of the River Dnepr”. After the abolition of the Sich 13,500 acres (5,460 ha) of land on that same right bank, between the ravines Hadiucha and Taranova, together with Lantukhivsky Island, was granted to brigadier Pavel Boltin. On this land Boltin immediately established two settlements: Vilna, on Taranova Ravine, later occupied by the farmstead of landowner Tymchenko,162 and Vilnopavlivka near Vilna Ravine, where Cherniavsky settlement is now located.163 From Boltin the land soon passed to Major Kokhovsky, who built Vynohradivka on the ashes of Mychuryn between Hadiucha and Vilna Ravines opposite Pokhyly Island.

   Using Turkish captives as labour, Kokhovsky cultivated some wonderful vineyards here, because of which the settlement began to be called Vynohradivka.164 In 1800 the land, together with Lantukhivsky Island, passed from Kokhovsky to “nobleman of the Little Russian Guberniya”,li from Poltava district, Petro Stepanovych Sidelsky. According to the survey of 1806 “the small village of Vinogradovka is shown to have 4,000 desiatynas (10,800 acres or 4,370 ha) of arable land and 1,000 desiatynas (2,700 acres or 1,090 ha) unfit for cultivation.  Sidelsky’s neighbours were Mennonites from the colony of Kronsvaid, the lords Lukashevych, Berdin and Ivanenko.

   After Sidelsky’s death his land was divided between his two brave daughters: the wife of a staff‑captain, Oleksandra Yankivska, and Cherniavska. After this Vynohradivka was renamed Mariyental, while the common folk called it Liakhy (Poles) or Liakhivka; by now it totalled only 5,046 acres (2,042 ha).

   In 1822 the landowner Yankivska sold her property to the wife of a Katerynoslav merchant, Pchelkin, while from 1830 the land and everything upon it was in the hands of Pchelkina’s son, also a merchant. Two years afterwards the land with all its dwellings was purchased by junior captain Vasyl Mykhailovych Shliakhtin for 5,000 roubles in assignations.167 

   Shliakhtin then sold all the land to the collegiate registrar Pavlo Omelianovych and his wife Yuliya Yvanivna for 20,000 “silver pieces”,166 together with 37 male souls, with wives and children, with all machinery and equipment, with grain, cattle and sown fields.

   Finally Yuliya Yvanivna Lachinova sold her settlement of Mariyental in 1856 for 40,000 roubles in assignations to the German Korniy Korniyovych Henrikhs “together with 30 peasant souls”, without taking into account the women and children, with 5,047 acres (2,042 ha) of land, with cattle and ripe grain.167 After this Mariyental was renamed Henrikhstal, which the people continued to call Lachynivsky Settlement.

   Below Vilny Rapid, near the right bank of the Dnipro, rises Yavlena Zabora, which certain researchers and memoirists consider to be a rapid. “Once upon a time a river pilot, or maybe an ordinary Zaporozhian Cossack, having passed through all the rapids, went to sleep, when suddenly his vessel unexpectedly nudged against some rocks. He woke up and asked in surprise: where did this rapid materialise from?”168
   Opposite Yavlena Zabora in the middle of the Dnipro stand the Purysovi Islands. Usually there are four islands, but during low water there can be eight or more: “There are plenty of them here, one on top of the other.” On the 1780 “Plan of Part of the River Dnepr” the largest of these islands is called Kuriakiv, while the smallest are Madyshevski Islands. Vice‑Admiral Pushchin in his 1784 “Dnepr Atlas”, academic Lerberg and the researcher Bukhtiev call the largest of the islands Maly Dubovy (Small Oak). On the “General Staff Topographical Map” this island is incorrectly located and shown to be very small. The inhabitants along the bank call the island Prusiv, Yavleny (from the name of the zabora, or Nimetsky (German); the Mennonites from the colony of Kronsvaid call it Dubovy or simply “the island”; the river pilots call it Purysiv, calling all the smaller ones Purysovi Islands as well. On the first of these islands when travelling from the rapid there is a cave in the cliff – “a dragon’s lair”.

   The largest Purysiv Island is 1.9 miles (3 km) long and 0.16 miles (0.26 km) wide according to Arapov’s 1780 plan. On the “General Staff Map” and according to Bukhtiev it is half a mile (0.8 km) long; measurements taken in 1903 put it at 0.79 miles (1.26 km) long and 315‑560 feet (96‑170 m) wide and 40‑50 feet (12.2‑15.2 m) high, with a total area of 48.6 acres (19.7 ha). The soil on the northern part of the island is drifting sand, in the middle and the south – sandy loam and clay; the island’s surface is covered with a lot of strewn rock. It supports black poplar, willow, oak, the occasional pear and sand‑willows over 10 feet (3 m) high.

   To one’s great amazement this island carries something which no other island has: a great number of mice; the entire island is a maze of mouse burrows and passages. This is especially noticeable in the fall when the earth collapses underfoot and the feet sink deep into the soil.

   Until the abolition of the Sich there were Zaporozhian fishing camps here. After the abolition of the Sich in 1789 the island fell into the hands of the Germans from the colony of Kronsvaid. In 1832‑1833, with the permission of the Novorosiysk governor‑general, Prince Vorontsov,lii the majority of the settlers from Kronsvaid moved two miles (3.2 km) inland from the Dnipro into a steppe ravine and thus there were two German colonies on a single parcel of land – Stary (Old) and Novy (New) Kronsvaid.169
   The old narrators who live near Purysiv Island and often visit it, recount the following about the island:

   “The island below Vovchok Rapid, otherwise known as Vilny Rapid, has long been known as Yavleny, but later began to be called Purysovy and Prusovy. On the right side of this island there is also a small rapid called Yavleny.170 Back in the times of Catherine the Great the Cossack fishermen Purys and Prus camped here; Prus continued fishing here after Purys’ death. Tykhon Prus and his company had a camp on Purysovy Island for many years and gave the population the grounds to rename the island to Prusovy.171 There are lots of human bones on this island. The Cossack settlers said that two tsars once did battle here and one of them lost his entire army.

   “This was very long ago. On the riverbank opposite the island, redoubts have been dug. Just where the cliff is, these redoubts were high, but in 1845, when the water rose, they were washed away. The water eroded a large hole on the island and it was filled with human bones. When you looked at all those skulls, it made shivers run up your spine – there were just skulls and rib bones.

   “An old man called Orel (Eagle) once fished from that island. He said that the army of some foreigner was defeated on Purysovy Island. Orel was of Zaporozhian Cossack stock; his customs were Cossack and so was his speech: he uttered no empty words, everything he said was to the point. He prayed properly, unlike us sinful souls whispering away, facing the east and you could hear his prayer a long way off. And they weren’t prayers like ours, but ancient Cossack ones about St. Michael and St. Mary the Protectress.

   “There were two earthen redoubts, standing thirty paces apart. Among the human bones people found arrowheads, rusted rifles, iron bullets smaller than a hen’s egg, sabres which were all bent. One of the sabres had a hilt covered in golden thread. The rifles and sabres were a little larger than those used in our time; the barrels were especially long. In the channel which separates the island from the right bank of the Dnipro, they found two bombs after 1845, each weighing close to two poods (70 lbs or 33 kg); each had an opening and an ear, through which passed a chain. The bombs were found among the rocks below Yavlena Zabora. At the northern end of Prysovy Island near the cliff one fellow found several antique silver spoons, knives and forks, selling them for a pittance to the Jewish tavern‑keeper.”

   In 1905 Ia.P.Novytsky wrote about Purysiv Island:

   “After stepping onto that part of the island closest to the rapid, we immediately came across a ravine eroded by the spring floodwaters a sagene in depth (7 feet or 2 m), the bottom of which was strewn with human bones and the occasional piece of clay pottery. The ravine stretched for some 40‑50 sagenes (280-350 ft or 85-105 m). In examining the sandy slopes of the ravine we saw a mass of human bones: from the sand protruded ribs, backbones, skulls and so on. Further on, in one place above the ravine we came across a bush of sand‑willow among the roots of which lay a whole heap of bones. We conducted digs in several places and in one spot found skeletons without skulls, in a second – skulls with lower jaws, but without any neck bones, and in a third – pieces of skeletons. All this leads one to think about a frightful massacre here in the past. For this reason Purysiv Island is very interesting for the scientific research of the historian, archeologist and anthropologist. The people speak a lot about this frightful human grave, so science must have its say as well. What was this? The battle of Sviatoslav, son of Ihor, with the Pechenegs in 972?liii Or perhaps a battle with the Polovtsians or Tatars?172
   The old river pilots from Kamianka and Kodak affirm that the second and third Purysiv Islands have the most human bones. Eighty‑year‑old Hrytsko Usaty from Pavlo‑Kychkas said of Purysiv Island and Purysiv Islet: “My departed father and the old fishermen would constantly talk about the treasure on Purysiv Island. They say that on the spit there, where the large cliff is, there are twelve cannon buried, stuffed full of gold coins. There are no markings, but they say you have to take twelve paces away from the cliff and dig. The cannon are Zaporozhian, made of pinchbeck. The second treasure is on the small Purysiv Islet which lies off the spit of the large island. Forty thousand lie buried there. And we call that islet simply Forty‑Thousand.173
   Opposite Purysiv Island, on the right bank of the Dnipro, is a redoubt, perhaps the same one mentioned by historian Prince S.I.Myshetsky: “The twelfth rapid is named Volnoi. Near this rapid, on the Ochakiv bank, a retrenchment with redoubts was built against the Russians in 1739.”174
   “Opposite Purysiv Island, which lies below Hadiuchy Rapid, redoubts have been dug where, people say there had been a war. And yet further down at Stary (Old) Krontsvay there are many small graves scattered across the sand; they all seem to be surrounded with stone. When I was little175 and grazed cattle for the Germans I often came across copper arrowheads: after a great wind or a rainstorm they just lay there on the sand.”176
   Below Purysiv Island lies Velyky Dubovy (Large Oak) Island according to Lerberg, Bukhtiev and vice‑admiral Pushchin’s 1784 “Dnepr Atlas”; however on the “Geometric Special Map of Major‑General Nikolai Yakovlevich Lanov’s Dacha” from circa 1780 it is called Dubov Island, while the villagers from along the shore call the island Abazyn or Lvovshansky, stemming from the names of its previous owners. Measurements made in February 1891 show the island to be 0.94 miles (1.50 km) long, 560-994 feet (170-302 m) wide and 25-40 feet (7.6-12.2 m) above the winter water line; the area of the land including steep slopes and drops is 39.3 hectares (97.2 acres). The soil is sandy, the surface uneven, containing holes, trenches, mounds and furrows; the island is almost completely inundated during floods. Black poplar, oak, elm and willow grow on the island, while the sandy shores are covered in osier. During the great spring flood of 1845 all the trees were washed away with the roots, and only now have they begun to reappear on the island.

   The outcrop of land on the left side of the Dnipro near Vilny Rapid together with Dubovy Island, later called Abazyn‑Lvovshyn, has an interesting past. After the abolition of the Zaporozhian Sich the land near the Dnipro in the outcrop of Vilny Rapid, along the stream of Vilnianka River “by decree of Her Imperial Majesty Catherine Alekseyevna the Second, the Azov gubernial chancery has set aside 9765 desiatynas 174 sagenes (26,366 acres or 10,668 ha) of crown land along the rapids to be ruled over by major‑general Nikolai Yakovlevich Lanov.” In August of the year that ensign Tymoshenko surveyed the allotment, there was already a “village” near Vilny Rapid called Lanivka‑Mykolayivka, which consisted of 14 households, 36 male and 23 female souls “being Little Russian peasants”.

   In those days Lanov’s neighbours included: “Major‑general Fedor Mikhailovich Tolstoy with his village of Fedorovka on the right bank of the Vilna River; colonel Andrei Yakovlevich Levanidov with his village of Andreyevka; ensign Gavriyil Nikolaevich Gross with his village of Grossovka; vacant land belonging to the Catholics of Ekaterinoslav; second lieutenant Nikolai Alekseyevich Rud’ with his village of Semenovka; chief‑surgeon and court adviser Ivan Davidovich Zommer with his village of Pavlo‑Kichkas.”

   Lanov’s allotment later gave birth to the village of Mykhailivka and the settlements Vilniansky, Mykhailyn and Mykolyn.

   After his death in 1788 M.Ia.Lanov, who had been a major‑general and a commander‑in‑chief of the Oleksandrovsk Fortress, left behind a widow, Yevdokia Mykhailivna Lanova and two sons: twenty‑four-year-old guards ensign Ivan and twenty‑year‑old guards sergeant Oleksandr, together with twenty serf households with a population of 61 male and 68 female souls. In late 1795 Lanov’s widow sold 5,940 acres (2,400 ha) of land in the upper reaches of Vilna River to collegium registrar Hryhoriy Semenovych Kryvobokov and 18,540 acres (7,500 ha) near the village of Mykolayivka‑Lanovka to Kharkiv landowner Lieutenant Vasyl Mykhailovych Abaza. “In the village Nikolaevka‑Lanovka there were a manor yard with all services, including such buildings: a house of eight rooms with alabaster fireplaces, the interior decorated with wallpaper, panelling and cornices, with double connecting doors, hand‑made brass locks, being fully furnished, with four large mirrors with gilded redwood frames, tables, commodes and wardrobes of red and black wood, iron double-bed suites, sofas, armchairs, chairs, adorned cupboards; three wings for stewards, the lady of the house and the domestics; a kitchen, bathroom, bread pantry, icehouse with log storehouse, a coach shed, stables, cattle and sheep yards with pens, two chicken sheds, a mill on the Dnepr with a pair of working millstones, an orchard with various trees, two fig trees in barrels and twenty‑five associated dwellings; grain and hay in ricks, stacks and cocks, cattle, sheep, goats, various fowl and 48 beehives. This inventory is witnessed in the hand of Mrs Major‑General Lanova.”177
   Thus, more than a hundred years ago on the banks of the Dnipro near Vilny Rapid there had been a prosperous manor with all the necessary farming requisite. What stands in its place now?

Where the landlord’s manor house once rose high and mighty, where there were plenty of cattle, fowl and bees in the spacious yard, where the land groaned under the weight of countless stacks of grain, where human life once bubbled like boiling water in an enormous cauldron, there is not a trace of times past; before one’s eyes stretches a wild, deserted, moribund rocky bank and within the crevices of its cliffs nest frightening poisonous black serpents... While journeying downstream along the Dnipro from Velyky Dubovy Island, also known as Abazyna‑Liovshyna, one can first spy the underwater Morhun Rock, so despised by the river pilots. On the right bank there follow several houses of the German colony Kronsvaid, while on the left bank lies Osokorivka Ravine and a craggy spit jutting out prominently into the Dnipro. Beyond the spit lies the village of Markusivka.

   The locals simply refer to the spit as Rih or Kut (Spit or Corner). The rocky backbone of this Rih rises some 40-50 feet (12-15 m) above the water line; its eastern part is so low that during high floodwaters it becomes inundated and then the spit turns into an island of several dozen acres, the so‑called Markusiv Island.

   On “Part No. 15 of the Dnepr, Assembled From the Data of the Dnepr Descriptive Expedition of 1881 Under the Leadership of Colonel Polikarpov” Markusiv Island has been placed below Purysiv Island. On the “Plan of the Rapids Section of the R. Dnepr 1917-1923” Markusiv Island lies immediately below Liovshyn Island.

   According to the 1881 survey the island was 630 yards (575 m) long and 513 yards (468 m) wide. Apart from its rocky “head”, it was sandy, with shrubby stands of black poplar and osier; overall the island’s vegetation was rather poor.

   One kilometre (0.6 miles) below Velyky Dubovy, that is Liovshyn Island, stands Verbovy (Willow) Island, shown on Arapov’s 1780 “Plan of Part of the River Dnepr” and mentioned by vice‑admiral Pushchin, academic Lerberg and the scholar Bukhtiev. The local fishermen call it Verbovy or Kamianuvaty (Rocky) Island. However on Arapov’s map these appear as two separate islands, Kamianuvaty being half the size of Verbovy and no more than 70 yards (64 m) downstream. This would put it at exactly the spot where Holy (Naked) Island lies today.

   According to the old surveys, Verbovy Island was over a verst long (0.66 miles or 1 km), one quarter of that wide and had an area of 70 acres (28.4 hectares); its middle lay opposite the mouth of Osokorova Ravine; now the island lies below the ravine and is 785 yards (718 m) long, 70 yards (64 m) wide and 30 feet (9.2 m) high at the head and 15‑20 feet (4.6-6.1 m) high at the highest point of its middle, its entire area no greater than 10.8 acres (4.4 hectares).

   So why has it grown so small?

   The old residents say that Verbovy Island was much longer, wider and higher in the distant past than it is today, but that in 1845 during a great flood all the vegetation was stripped off it, the surface was eroded and only the cliff remains as a reminder of days past.178
   Cattle graze on Verbovy Island throughout the summer, where they find “customary shelter”, which is why the only plants growing on the island are gnawed and mangy black poplar bushes.

   Verbovy Island and Kychkas are the final points of navigation through the rapids for the Kodak and Kamianka river pilots. Here their place is taken by “Lithuanian” pilots, that is Belorussians. From time immemorial the sandy shallows of Verbovy island and the far right bank of Kychkas have provided a safe berth for the rafts. Here, all summer long, one can see the flags atop the cabins of the rafts of the upper-class Jews. All summer long one can hear a babble of voices here, shouting, the swearing of the Belorussians, the smell of tree bark, pipes and sweat.179
   Six and a half miles (ten kilometres) from the village of Andriyivka‑Ivanenkovo, on the high left bank stretches the settlement of Markusiv, also known as Pavlo‑Kychkas. It has two main streets and several narrow winding side streets. The main street passes along the entire length of the settlement and is no longer than 0.7 miles or one kilometre. The settlement is inhabited by Ukrainians. Its history dates back to 1781, when mention was made of “the settlement of  Kychkas, sometimes called Kechkas, on the Dnepr River, near the mouth of Kychkas Ravine.” Its first ruler was lieutenant‑general Pavlo Sergeyevich Potemkin, who was granted an allotment of land 32,400 acres (13,110 hectares) in area. In 1782 it was renamed Pavlo‑Kychkas. In 1784 the holdings passed from Potemkin to major Faliev; in 1786 to court adviser Sytnyk; in 1787 – to court adviser Ivan Davidovich Zommer; in 1796 to second‑major Ivan Semenovich Shults, and in 1798 to Emanuyil Marko, who gave his name to Markusiv settlement. Lord Kurika, whom the local old men often mention, managed Marko’s holdings. “After the yimes of the Zaporozhians there was plenty of land here and few people, so he began to take in the poor: ‘Come live with me, boys,’ he would say. ‘Those who want to can take up a plow and oxen and work, those who don’t want to – can drink vodka.’ At first it was a good life: they paid no taxes and were exempt from military recruitment... The settlement began to thrive, the poor fellows married. After the people became well off, the landlord had other things on his mind. Bit by bit he began to turn them toward serfdom, and then some document appeared and he went and made them all into serfs. When the Cossacks finally realized what had transpired, it was too late: they would have been only too glad to leave, but they had nowhere to rest their heads.”180
   Opposite Markusiv or Pavlo‑Kychkas close to the right bank of the Dnipro stand two rocks dubbed Rozbiynyky (Robbers). One of them was higher, but they blew their tops away with gunpowder and they’ve become flat‑topped now, protruding from the water like two islands. If a swift current or an unexpected gust of wind drives a vessel or raft against them, that’s the end of it. Which is why they are called Rozbiynyky.

   Beyond these two rocks the Dnipro turns sharply to the southwest, which is why, when approaching this spot, it seems from afar as if the Dnipro has struck a cliff here and finished: “What is this? Where do we journey from here?” the rafters ask involuntarily. Beyond this turn the Dnipro flows for almost 1.3 miles (2.1 km) as if through a fissure between tall and steep granite cliffs, especially the left bank which rises over 200 feet (60 m); here the Dnipro’s width narrows to 600 feet (180 m), while its depth increases to 130 feet (40 m) and more.

   On the river’s left bank three earthen redoubts follow in succession: one where Stary Kychkas used to be, that is the old crossing over the Dnipro, the second on the low section of the bank, three versts from the first, under the “sole” of a craggy drop, and the third lies 600 paces below the second on the very top of a hill some 100 to 150 feet (30-45 m) above the river’s water line, hidden from the river by cliffs.

   Osokorova Ravine runs along the same left bank, together with Bahatyreva Ravine. It used to be completely covered in trees; it had stands of black poplar and such enormous oaks that three men could not link their arms around them. And the undergrowth that once grew there! The river used to be deep here, alive with fish and crayfish. Zaporozhians once lived in the ravine in bark huts, and there are still depressions there to mark the spots. Turks lived here as well, until the Cossacks tested their strength with them. Afterwards the landlords plundered the forest wealth and the river dried up. Although there are still some oaks there, it is nothing like it was in the old days.181
   Further on comes Kychkas Ravine, which in the 1697 “Register of Rivers” is called Kochkaska River.182 The Zaporozhian Cossacks and haydamakas knew this ravine well, for they drove Tatar horses into it. The Tatars had plenty of cattle and even more herds of horses. So several men would band together and race off into the steppe; they would rustle a mob of horses and drive them into this ravine; here they grazed and tended them. And if the horses needed to be moved to the right bank then one of the fellows would mount a horse, drive them ahead of him and swim across the Dnipro.183
   Next came Khmaryna (Cloud) Cliff, looking like an overhanging storm cloud.

   Beyond it lay Shyroka (Wide) Ravine and beyond this – Puhachi (Owls) Cliff. Horned owls used to hoot there all night and day. At one time they multiplied profusely, but now there are only a few of them.

   Beyond Puhachi Cliff lies Poberezhnia (Riverside) Ravine, and further down, right near the river’s bank, Dzvinytsia (Belltower) Rock. It has a peak like a real belltower and is known to all the river pilots and locals. It is of interest to archeologists and historians because near it in 1883 they found a whole pile of flint chips, which leads one to suspect that in prehistoric times there was a workshop here for making stone implements.184
   Beyond Dzvinytsia Rock rise enormous granite cliffs in which nature herself has created a cave. More correctly, it is a grotto; the locals call such natural caves skoty, that is animal burrows. The cave is called Shkola and is known to all the Dnipro pilots: “Not a river pilot is he who navigates the rapids, but he who fortuitously passes Shkola.” It presents a real danger to the river pilots.

   The cave takes its name from the Zaporozhian colonel Shkola who had his winter residence here during the times of the Sich.

   The Cossacks and haydamakas would often hide their booty in this cave, at times even sheltering here if the need arose. In recent times young lads hid here to evade military recruitment.

   Not everyone can crawl into the cave, for it is quite difficult to enter. An enormous rock overhangs quite low over the entrance, hiding it from roving eyes. One has to bend double, crawl under the rock, then stand up, stretch straight and thin, and then carefully slide into the fissure of the cave. Inside the cave are two dark passages. One runs to the right, the other to the left. The passage to the left goes for 14 feet (4.3 m), gradually narrowing and finishing in a small crack through which passes a thin ribbon of light. A person can reach the middle of the cave only with great difficulty. The passage to the right is cramped and low and one must proceed along it bent double. It runs for only 4.7 feet (1.4 m) and bears a little to the left, leading into a chamber. The chamber is 16 feet (5 m) long, almost 28 inches (0.7 m) wide and up to 11.5 feet (3.5 m) high. When illuminated it appears to be a natural chamber and there are no signs anywhere of man having worked it for his comfort. In the corners thin ribbons of light protrude through narrow cracks. The floor is quite a thick bed of soil. On the right a passage leads down to the Dnipro; it is very narrow and littered with small loose stones, requiring a supreme effort to reach its end. The length of the passage is a little over 14 feet (4.3 m). It finishes at the very bank of the river and brings much fear into the heart of a person who reaches the end and unexpectedly looks out onto the Dnipro: hemmed in by a very narrow and very high corridor, being almost 140 feet (42.6 m) deep here, the Dnipro rages furiously along here. At the mere thought that a boulder could give way under you, sending you tumbling from a 200 feet (64 m) height head‑first into the water, you catch your breath and your heart seems to stop beating…

   What was found in this Shkola Cave?

   Tiny flakes of flint, various shards of broken crockery, bird bones, various animal and human bones. It is said that once long ago there was a suspended pole there, hung with hames, bridles, saddles and complete harnesses. Once a saddle‑bag was found crammed full of spears and bronze ornaments from some kind of caftan, a human leg bone with an arrow imbedded in it and several metal arrowheads.

   Below Shkola Cave one can see Sukhoivanova Zabora; pilot Sukhoivan ran his raft aground on that zabora. Against the zabora is a large whirlpool called Kazany (Cauldrons); the water swirls there as if in a gigantic cauldron, as it begins to boil with white foam.

   Along the left bank we find Holubyna (Pigeon) Cliff, Popova Cliff and Kinska Ravine. Wild pigeons once roosted on Holubyna Cliff; they were so numerous, it was indescribable. They also roosted in Shkola Cave, but mostly on that cliff. It used to be that nobody could ever reach them there; but when the Germans settled here and the hunters became numerous, the birds quickly disappeared; they would sail up from the Dnipro, fire away with their rifles, and the birds plopped into the water.

   Popova Cliff takes its name from a priest. Legend has it that shortly after Catherine the Great passed through here a priest came to these parts. He rode at night and not knowing the way, turned off the Don Highway, came too close to the cliff’s edge and unexpectedly fell from the great height into the abyss of the Dnipro. The priest was no more and only “Priest’s” Cliff remained. Another story has it that some priest jumped to his death from this cliff.

   Kinska Ravine is named after horses. Once long ago the Nogaisliv and Zaporozhian Cossacks, in moving their horses to market, drove them into this ravine and let them swim across the river. The damned horses swam swiftly, splashing away. The Nogais drove their horses to market in Bardychev or Lysavethrad.lv They bred the horses in the wild seaside steppes. Horses always swam well across the Dnipro; they would sink only if their ears filled with water. The Nogais followed them in canoes and if they spotted a horse or foal sinking, they immediately tossed a rope round its neck and helped it across.

   Along the right bank from Markusiv to Kychkas Crossing lies Radutka and beyond it –Krynychky (Wells) outcrop, and in the water lies Chorna (Black) Zabora. Radutka is a former site of Zaporozhian Cossack settlers, but who built that Radutka – the Cossacks themselves or someone else – that is history’s secret. But the Krynychky are a legacy of the Zaporozhians, for they dug a lot of wells there. Chorna Zabora is in fact Chorny Rock, which has slid out into the Dnipro. 

   Further along lies Stupka (Mortar) Rock and the islets Kriachok and Verbky, which nestle up against the right bank near the crossing. Stupka has a hole in it, just like a proper mortar. Perhaps some poor Cossack once pounded his millet here.

   Kriachok (Gull) Islet received its name from the gulls, which settled here in large flocks and hunted small fish; they did this especially after the rains, in warm weather, when the fish jumped out of the water to breathe the fresh air. Continually flapping their wings and rising or falling through the air, the gulls watched out keenly for the fish, and when one rose to the surface it suddenly dived and seized it with its claws and beak.

   Verbky is referred to as Zeleni (Green) Islets by the river pilots. The islet once boasted stands of nice, ramose willows under which Cossack fishermen lived in clover. It was these willows which gave the island its name.

   Gudzyk (Button) is a small rock in the water. During high water it disappears from sight, but when the water falls it reappears and protrudes like a large button. The river pilots say you must watch it carefully so it doesn’t accidentally button a barque or an entire raft to itself. In Ukrainian a “gudzyk” can also mean a stocky, but strong and powerful person, whom even three people cannot shift. That Gudzyk in the water is just like that.

   Chupryna (Tuft) is another rock in the middle of the river. It looks like a human head and atop it, on the very tip, billows a forelock, just like the Cossacks once wore.

VIII

   Kychkas Crossing lies opposite the German colony of Kychkas‑Einlage, stretching along the right bank of the Dnipro. It was known to the Byzantine Emperor Constantine VII (905-959), but by the name of Krariy Crossing.

   The well‑known Black Sea researcher, Professor Brun, associated this name with the Armenian word K’areres and considered that Kychkas took its name from the Armenian Prince Kiskases, a contemporary of Constantine VII.185 

   However, the famous orientalist D. Nikolskylvi considers Kychkas contains the Turco‑Tatar root kör, which by being repeated to create kör-kör, meant “continue on”; figuratively, Kychkas was a place of crossing or fording the river.186
   Constantine VII has this to say about the crossing: “The Rus’ reach the so‑called Krariy Crossing, where the Chersoniteslvii cross over from Rus’ and the Pechenegslviii cross into Chersonesus. The crossing is about a hippodrome wide,187 while the height of the riverbank from the shore is so high that it is accessible only to an arrow launched from a strong bow.188
   The envoy of German emperor Rudolf II, Erich Lassota, knew of Kychkas Crossing and wrote about it in 1594: “The Tatar crossing was situated here; the Dnipro is very narrow at this spot, its banks, especially the left one, are very high and craggy; it is 1½ miles from the last rapid to Kychkas.”189
   The Lithuanian writer Michalon Litvinlix also wrote about Kychkas Crossing in the 16th century, referring to it as Kochkos.190
   In the 17th century Kychkas Crossing attracted the attention of French engineer Beauplan: [find english trans.] “Kychkas,” he notes, “is a small river which flows into the Dnepr or Boristhenes on the Tatar side and gives its name to a sandy spit projecting into the Dnepr, surrounded on two sides by inaccessible cliffs. It can only be reached from the steppe across a very low sandbar some 2,000 paces long. This spot should be walled‑off to provide a well‑entrenched position. True, the terrain here is uneven, in the form of hills, because of which in one spot the Tatar banks dominate over these places, in another the latter dominate over the Tatar side. In general these places are very high, the river’s stream is exposed, devoid of any obstructions, very narrow, especially to the south.. I saw the Poles fire bows from one bank of the river to the other and the arrows fell more than a hundred steps beyond the far side. This is the main and the best Tatar crossing, because in this spot the river is no more than 150 paces wide; the banks are very accessible, the location open, so one need not fear ambushes. The crossing is called Kychkasovoy.”191
   In archival documents from the 17th century Kychkas is most often called Kuchkas. Thus the Zaporozhian Cossacks wrote to Moscow: “The Tatars cross the Dnipro below Kodak at the Kuchkas outcrop.”192
   In the “Eyewitness Chronicle” Kychkas is called Kychet. Near Kychet the Cossack elders – the quartermaster, aide‑de‑camp and military scribe “wrote a manifest to his tsarist majesty about the grievances and affronts suffered by them and the common folk at the hands of the hetmans’ sons, whom (hetman Ivan Samoylovych) had appointed as colonels and handed the manifest to boyar Vasili Vasilievich Galetsin, seeking permission to appoint a new hetman”.193
   The chronicler Samiylo Velychkolx refers to Kychkas as Kochkas and says: “The hetman (Ivan Mazepa) and Belgorod voivode Prince Yakov Dolgorukov, having boarded vessels, at midday on July 20 (1697) set off from Volny Rapid and from Kochkas in a sailing expedition down the Dnepr River to the Zaporozhian Sech and further down to Kizikermen.”194 lxi
   In the late 18th and early 19th century the Russian academic Lerberg wrote thus about Kychkas: “Four versts below Verbovy Island the banks of the Dnipro River draw rapidly together in the space of 300 sagenes. At this width the Dnipro flows for 1½ versts to the southeast and then, becoming even further hemmed in, immediately turns to the southwest. Thus the right bank is transformed into quite a large horn called Kychkas. This is the largest and best crossing for the Tatars, for in this place the stream is no wider than 150 paces, its banks are steep and the ground here is open.”195
   On 18th century maps of the Dnipro Kychkas Crossing is labelled “the great crossing”. Below Kychkas Crossing, in the middle of the Dnipro, appear Karlova and then Bruniova zabora, followed by Chorny (Black) or Strilitsky (Hunter’s) Island, also known as Khvedoryshyn, having once belonged to the landowner Hanna Khvedorivna Mark or Khvedorykha, as the local peasants called her.196
   Next on the right appear three enormous rocks called Stovpy (Pillars).197 The one closest to the right bank is called Dyvan Tsarytsi (Tsarina’s Couch). Legend has it that on her way from Katerynoslav to Kherson Catherine the Great rested on this rock. But that is only idle talk, for in fact the tsarina never even set foot here. They say there used to be an inscription chiselled out here, but nobody knows what it said. One thing can be said for certain, however: the Tsarina’s Couch is one of the best spots on the Dnipro below the rapids. When you come close to the rock and ascend to its middle, to where the “couch” lies and take a look upstream to the north, you will see a view unlike any other in the rapids section. Having emerged from the cramped confines of the granite banks of Kychkas and finding itself completely liberated, the Dnipro spreads its banks far and wide across the broad spacious lowlands, now flowing serenely. Here there is none of the noise or roaring and splashing, none of the swirling waters which dominate the rapids. Before one stretches a broad mighty river with pure crystal‑clear water, in which lies reflected the high, azure, bottomless sky and the bright hot southern sun. This picture does not stimulate one’s nerves, does not provoke one to do battle with the menacing elements; on the contrary, it pacifies, caresses the soul just as a gentle loving mother caresses her dear beloved child. Once the river reaches the enormous Stovpy Rocks it divides into two large currents: the so‑called New Dnipro, which twists sharply and goes off to the left, and the so‑called Old Dnipro which continues on to the right.

   Near the base of Seredniy Stovp (Middle Pillar) in a rock which protrudes slightly from the water, there is a deep hole called Zaporizka Myska (Zaporozhian Bowl). The “Bowl” is 3 feet 6 inches (1 m) deep and 7 feet (2 m) in diameter. The old pilots tell the tale that the Zaporozhians ate dumplings out of that bowl. They would take spoons 7 feet long and sit around the “bowl” facing one another; each would feed the fellow opposite him.

   Did the Zaporozhians really eat dumplings out of this bowl? There can only be one reply to this question: “According to your faith will it be given to you.” However there is evidence that man lived on these “Pillars” back in prehistoric times.

   The middle rock was home to man several thousand years ago. It contains two lower layers and one upper layer of the late period. The first layer, 10 inches (25 cm) thick, is from a time when man ate mostly shellfish and fish; the remains of fish and shells can be found in fireplace sites which have been preserved in various places throughout this layer; the earth also contains various articles of flint and shards of primitive crockery with an indented triangular ornament.

   Remains of human food were also found in the second layer, but here animal bones predominated: wild pig, horse and bull; there were also shards of various crockery, which was bigger and less primitive. It was decorated with caterpillar and dotted ornamentation. Beautifully worked flint instruments were also found here, together with many awls and a wedged, very nicely polished axe.

   The third, top layer was 40 inches (1 m) thick and bore witness to the fact that man had lived on this rock for many years. Here were found human burial sites which should be relegated to a later epoch.198
   To the left of the three enormous “Pillars” stand two equally large Stohy (Ricks). When one draws closer to these Stohy and looks up at them from below, they indeed look like two hayricks.

   “And who erected these enormous “Ricks” here amid the Dnipro? Obviously not us, but the heroes and giants who lived here long‑long ago, not in our lifetime, even before the times of our grandparents and great‑grandparents. They were called “mountain‑movers”, Sampsons, giants. People were different in those days. Their heads alone weighed seven poods (250 pounds or 115 kg); if they needed to go somewhere, they would grab their small walking‑stick of three hundred poods or so (11,000 lbs or 5,000 kg) and set off, after swinging it about...”

   On the left bank of the river opposite the “Pillars” and the “Ricks” rises the famous Sahaidachne Outcrop. At one time this was an exquisitely beautiful, very picturesque area known to all in the vicinity. Girded on one side by the wide and mighty Dnipro, and on the three remaining sides by high stone overhangs, with its tall dense oak forest, the locale inside was covered in verdant lush grass and dappled with bright aromatic multicoloured flowers, beguiling everyone.

   “One of the oldest narrators, who was 120 years old, told us,” recounts Ia.P.Novytsky, “that a Zaporozhian Cossack named Sahaidak lived on this outcrop. This was back in the reign of Catherine the Great, after the abolition of the Zaporozhian Sich, at the start of the colonization of the former Cossack lands.lxii At first that Sahaidak went off to Ukraine, however he soon returned and settled near the left bank of the Dnipro below Kychkas, assembled a fraternity about him and began to farm. ‘It’s uncustomary for a Cossack to live with women,’ he would say, after having lived a little in Ukraine, which is why he made off for the Dnipro. They built themselves some shacks and dugouts here and began to live. Old man Sahaidak was the leader. He kept order everywhere, prepared provisions for winter, looked after their property, tended the cattle, and his fellow Cossacks helped him: some fished, some travelled, some kept bees...

   “They lived together nice and peaceful, never did anyone any harm, and never came to harm from anyone else. And so they lived until the Muscovite army arrived here unexpectedly, on its way to conquer Crimea. His comrades scattered to the four winds, but Sahaidak decided not to abandon his beloved spot. He locked himself in his dugout, determined not to surrender alive to the Muscovites, whom he detested so terribly for bringing so much misfortune to Zaporizhia. Firing away from his dugout, Sahaidak felled many a Muscovite, until they completely encircled his dugout and set fire to it. He suffocated there in the smoke, rather than come out alive and fall into the hands of the Muscovites. And so that outcrop began to be called Sahaidachne after him. After his death other former Cossacks lived there – Skut’, Khoz, Matviy and Levko Shuty.”199
   Taking into account what this old narrator had to say about the Cossack Sahaidak and Sahaidachne Outcrop, one cannot but mention what Prince S.I.Myshetsky, Zaporizhia’s first historian, had to say about Sahaidachny. Myshetsky lived in the Cossack Sich fortress from 1736 till 1740 and there heard about “a Zaporozhian warrior named Sahaidachny, who built a fortress, or in their words an okop on the large island of Khortyts.”200
   Of course Prince Myshetsky’s “warrior Sahaidachny” can be none other than the famous hetman, Petro Sahaidachny. Although Myshetsky states that Sahaidachny lived on Velyka Khortytsia, the island of Khortytsia and Sahaidachne Outcrop are adjacent.

   It should also be mentioned that the locality between Sahaidachne Outcrop and Velyka Khortytsia Island was well‑known to the Rus’ armies as a safe refuge and had drawn them there.

   In 1103, prior to doing battle with the Polovtsians, the Rus’ princeslxiii appointed as the assembly point for their armies an area near Velyka Khortytsia Island: “And they arrived below the rapids and stopped at Protolchi Crossing near Khortychiv Island.”201
   Later, in 1223 or 1224 all the Rus’ princes who prepared to do battle with the Tatars also gathered here: “The Rus’ princes crossed the Dnepr on countless boats... The Galicians and Volhynians, each with their princes, and the Kuria and Trubichians and Putivlians, each with their princes... And they entered the Dnepr River and crossed the rapids, and stopped near Khortytsia at the ford near Protolchi.”202
   In various places around Sahaidachne Outcrop there remained so‑called Sahaidak ovens or campfire sites and holes of various sizes overgrown with hemp, savoury and saltwort; coal has been found in various spots around the outcrop, as well as shards of broken crockery with and without ornamentation, pieces of iron, lead, rifle and pistol flints, as well as quite a few copper coins from various years, both Rus’ and non‑Rus’.

   The best spots at Sahaidachne Outcrop are the so‑called cliffs Durna (Stupid) and Serednia (Middle), which stand 150 paces apart. The first extends far into the Dnipro in a nice picturesque horn, while the second, bordered all around with dense tall forest, rises inland. Reaching up 70‑100 feet (20-30 m) and being some 650 paces in circumference, Serednia Cliff is reminiscent of an enormous burial mound overgrown with tall dense forest and low impenetrable scrub; in places there are splotches of multicoloured flowers, among which lily of the valley predominates. This is one of the best locales on the left bank below Kychkas and involuntarily catches everyone’s attention.

   “If you ascend either of the two cliffs,” notes Ia.P.Novytsky, “you will see the magical crystaline Dnipro, hear the bell‑clear warbling of the water gently caress your ears, see the picturesque countryside spread out before you. Ahead of you stand the solemn Stovpy and Stohy; further out you spy the entrenched part of Khortytsia Island with its bushy pears, overhanging cliffs, sandy beaches and slopes, and further away upon the horizon rest burial mounds and steppe ridges.”203 

   In the 1830s one could spy a unique rock called Liulka (Pipe) there on Serednia Cliff, looking like a real smoking pipe with a chibouk and a pipe cleaner. There was also a “bed” or “roost” there, otherwise known as “Sahaidak’s Chair”. That “bed” was perched atop the cliff and was nothing less than a sculpted piece of stone in the middle of which a depression had been carved out for a person to lie in, with a bedhead and small holes for the feet. Because of frosts or whatever the “bed” cracked into two pieces, however these lay tightly together and no one dared move them. However in 1883 two carousing drunks came to Serednia Cliff from Oleksandrovsk, and after a long spree of partying and drinking they decided to demonstrate their ability and daring by placing gunpowder under the “bed” and lighting it. After that moment not a tiny pebble remained of that “bed”.204
   Akin to Sahaidak's “bed” on Serednia Cliff, there was a similar “bed” with obvious signs of human endeavour on Myhiyska Cliff, near the Boh River. Although the fate of this “bed” is unknown, however in 1903 it was still in one piece.205
   Serednia Cliff is attractive not only because of its beauty, but also because of the cultural relics there. It contains a Neolithic site, which has been very well preserved up to our times. This is a wonderful example of human habitation on the Dnipro islands during the New Stone Age. Here there are beautiful finished flint articles, pottery shards of interest because of their technique, with shells being mixed into the clay, and their ornamentation, which is similar to those found at the Usatove site near Odesa. Here they also found the remains of food eaten by the people of the time, various shells, fish and animal bones.

   Thus the Kychkas Outcrop with its crossing, its mighty tall cliffs, its meadows, its wide and majestic surroundings has been known to man from time immemorial. Witness to this are the Neolithic sites found there and those countless mysterious dugouts in the slope near it, and the gold coin bearing a Byzantine emperor upon it, which was by chance pulled from the water at the crossing, and even those small and large burial mounds which abound across the steppe to the southwest of Kychkas.

   All the peoples who arrived in our land, whether it be from the Far East, the Caucasus, Asia Minor or Greece, all of them knew the Krariy or Kychkas Crossing. Our land opened up its interior for them and gave them all shelter and protection. Thus the Cimmerians, Scythians, Sarmatians, Roxolianians, Alans, Ost‑Goths, Huns, Venedians, Bulgars, Avars, Khazars, Ulychians, Tivertsians, Ugrians, Pechenegs, Polovtsians, Greeks, Genoese, Lithuanians and Tatars all knew this land.

   All these people brought to our country material and spiritual culture as it existed at the time, and from our land it travelled far to the west and even further to the northern lands.

   It is obvious that the Zaporozhian Cossacks knew this crossing too. On the right bank of the Dnipro near Kychkas Outcrop stood the winter settlements of the leadership of the Kodak palanka; the leadership of the Samara palanka had similar settlements on the left bank. These winter settlements were inhabited by wintering Cossacks or “squatters” or “buckwheat‑sowers”, who lived with women or alone if they chose. They busied themselves with agriculture, horsebreeding, cattlebreeding, beekeeping, fox‑raising; they paid a tax of one rouble per “chimney” per annum to the military treasury.lxiv After the abolition of the Zaporozhian Sich only very few Cossacks remained to live in these winter settlements. Thus in 1871 the well‑known Russian academic Vasili Zuyev, while travelling through the lands of the former Zaporizhia, visited Kychkas Outcrop as well, which he found empty and deserted: “In Kychkas there stands a single small house inhabited by a Zaporozhian Cossack.”206
   However Kychkas did not remain deserted for long. In 1789 on the river’s right bank, on Kychkas Outcrop, a German colony of Mennonites was founded, called Einlage‑Kychkas.

   The idea of bringing Mennonites into Russia from abroad was first proposed to Catherine the Great by count P.O.Rumiantsev‑Zadunaisky, who first came across them near Danzig and Elbinglxv in Prussia while there during the Seven Year War.lxvi Rumaintsev‑Zadunaisky asserted that the Mennonites were good farmers, that in general they were an honest people, sober, hardworking, that they would be an example for the Russian peasant farmer. After this appeal the collegiate adviser Trappe was sent to Prussia to bring several Mennonite families back to Russia. 510 male and 400 female immigrants arrived in the first wave. At first they were to have been settled on the Konka River, but then they were granted lands on Velyka Khortytsia and on the right bank of the Dnipro opposite Kychkas. Soon after they were joined by fresh German settlers and in time the former Zaporozhian Cossack free lands became dotted with many large, wealthy and flourishing German colonies.

The End
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xliv Ia.P.Novytsky (1847�1925) – famous Ukrainian folklorist, ethnographer and pedagogue. Of considerable value are the folkloric, ethnographic and local lore material collected by him in Southern Ukraine and published in the collections Malorusskie narodnye predaniia i rasskazy (1876), Malorusskie istoricheskie pesni, sobrannye v Ekaterinoslavshchine (s 1874 po 1903 gg) (1908) and others.


xlv Chumaks were merchants who carted salt and fish from the south throughout Ukraine.


xlvi The given excerpt from the chronicle is about the tossing into the Dnipro of the idol Perun, which had stood in Kyiv on Perun Hill and tells of the baptism of Rus’ by the great Kyivan prince Volodymyr Sviatoslavych (d.o.b. unknown � d. 1015). The introduction of Christianity to Kyivan Rus’ is depicted here as a single act of mass baptism of the Kyivites, but in actual fact this was a lengthy process.


xlvii The “folk legends” quoted by the author are merely oral interpretations of various chronicles.


xlviii In the second half of the 17th and in the 18th century Hetmanite Ukraine semi�officially consisted of Left�Bank Ukraine and Kyiv, together with a small piece of territory on Right�Bank Ukraine.


xlix In 1921 Oleksandrivsk was renamed Zaporizhia.


l    Mineon – a collection of stories of the saints for each day of the month


li As an administrative�territorial unit the Little�Russian Guberniya was created on Left�Bank Ukraine by decree of Pavel I in 1796 and abolished in 1802 to become the Chernihiv and Poltava guberniyas.


lii The author is referring to M.S.Vorontsov, who in 1828�1844 held the position of governor�general of Novorosiysk and Bessarabia.


liii Ia.P.Novytsky postulated that this could have been the spot where the Pechenegs killed Prince Sviatoslav, Son of Ihor.


liv That is, the Nogai Tatars. In the 17th and 18th centuries the term Nogai was used in referring to Tatar feudal State formations, which appeared in the southern Ukrainian steppes in the early 17th century following the disintegration of the Small Nogai Horde.


lv More correctly Yelysavethrad, the name up until 1934 of Kirovohrad.


lvi There appears to be a mistake here. The eminent Russian orientalist, founder of Soviet Assyrian Studies, was Mikhailo Vasiliovich Nikolsky (1848-1917). He became the initiator of the Eastern Commission (1887) at the Moscow Archeological Association.


lvii Meaning the residents of Chersonese Taurica or Chersonesus, an ancient city situated on the southwestern Crimean coast. All that is left of it today are ruins located near the city of Sevastopol. Built in the 5th century BC by Greek settlers from Pontic Heraclea, which was located on the southern coast of the Black Sea. 


lviii In this instance it refers to the western branch of nomadic Turkic tribes which at the end of the 9th century settled in the steppes between the mouth of the Don River west to the lower reaches of the Don in the East. In the 10th century they repeatedly attacked Rus’ (in 915, 920, 968, 972, etc.).


lix Michalon Litvin (d.o.b. and death unknown) – Lithuanian diplomat, served in Crimea in the first half of the 16th century. Author of the work O nravakh tatar, litovtsev i moskvitian. Desiat’ otryvkov (1615), wherein he describes the lifestyles of the Lithuanians, Russians, Ukrainians and Crimean Tatars.


lx Samiylo (Samoyil) Vasyliovych Velychko (1670� died after 1728) was a Ukrainian Cossack chronicler. Author of the work Letopis’ sobytii v Iugo�Zapadnoi Rossii v XVII veke published in 4 volumes in Kyiv between 1848 and 1864.


lxi Reference is made here to the Turko�Tatar fortress of Kyzykerman, located on the northern Black Sea coast.


lxii It is known that the first Cossacks settled in the territory of Zaporizhia probably at the turn of the 16th century. In the 17th century sources already note fairly substantial permanent Cossack settlements in the south of Ukraine. In the 1770s the population of Zaporizhia, as considered by certain scholars, numbered approximately 100,000. Active colonization of the region began in the mid 18th century and continued until the mid 1830s, in places up until the 1850s.


lxiii In 1103 and 1111 the Rus’ princes, led by Volodymyr Monomakh, launched attacks into the steppe against the Polovtsians, defeating them.


lxiv The military treasury was the financial organ of the Zaporozhian Army. According to some historical sources, until the liberation war of 1648�1654 it was situated in Terekhtemyriv, and later on the Dnipro islands below Chortomlyk River. Chronicles and narratives tell us that each sich or fortress had its own treasury.


lxv Danzig is the former German name for the Polish city of Gdansk. Elbing is the German name for the port of Elblag in northern Poland.


lxvi The war (1756�63) between Prussia, Portugal and Britain, who emerged in the ascendant against Austria, Russia, Saxony, France, Sweden, Spain and a series of small German states. It was a consequence of commercial and colonial rivalry between Britain and France and also due to the conflict in Germany between Prussia and Austria.





